Aalborg Universitet



Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems in Global Production Networks

Design and Validation of Methods and Models for Financial Evaluation

Kjeldgaard, Stefan

DOI (link to publication from Publisher): 10.54337/aau682310410

Publication date: 2023

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication from Aalborg University

Citation for published version (APA):

Kjeldgaard, S. (2023). Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems in Global Production Networks: Design and Validation of Methods and Models for Financial Evaluation. Aalborg Universitetsforlag. https://doi.org/10.54337/aau682310410

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal -

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at vbn@aub.aau.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

RECONFIGURABLE MANUFACTURING SYSTEMS IN GLOBAL PRODUCTION NETWORKS

DESIGN AND VALIDATION OF METHODS AND MODELS FOR FINANCIAL EVALUATION

> BY STEFAN KJELDGAARD

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED 2023



AALBORG UNIVERSITY

RECONFIGURABLE MANUFACTURING SYSTEMS IN GLOBAL PRODUCTION NETWORKS

DESIGN AND VALIDATION OF METHODS AND MODELS FOR FINANCIAL EVALUATION

by

Stefan Kjeldgaard



Dissertation submitted November 2023

Dissertation submitted:	November 2023
PhD supervisors:	Associate Professor Thomas Ditlev Brunø, Aalborg University
	Associate Professor Ann-Louise Andersen, Aalborg University
	Associate Professor Kjeld Nielsen, Aalborg University
PhD committee:	Associate Professor Iskra Dukovska-Popovska (chair) Aalborg University, Denmark
	Professor Catherine da Cunha Ecole Centrale de Nantes, France
	Professor Michael Friedrich Zaeh Technical University of Munich, Germany
PhD Series:	Faculty of Engineering and Science, Aalborg University
Department:	Department of Materials and Production
ISSN (online): 2446-1636	

ISBN (online): 978-87-7573-592-1

Published by: Aalborg University Press Kroghstræde 3 DK – 9220 Aalborg Ø Phone: +45 99407140 aauf@forlag.aau.dk forlag.aau.dk

© Copyright: Stefan Kjeldgaard

Printed in Denmark by Stibo Complete, 2024



CV

Stefan Kjeldgaard was born in Viborg, Denmark. He studied at Aalborg University, where he completed a BSc degree in Global Business Engineering in 2018, followed by a MSc degree in Operations and Supply Chain Management in 2020. Since then, he has worked on his PhD at the Department of Materials and Production at Aalborg University in collaboration with Vestas Wind Systems A/S. His research is part of the Manufacturing Academy of Denmark, funded by the Innovation Fund Denmark.

ENGLISH SUMMARY

This PhD dissertation is the result of a three-year research project at the Department of Materials and Production at Aalborg University in close collaboration with Vestas Wind Systems A/S. The project is motivated by an industrial need and research deficit of methods and models for the financial evaluation of reconfigurable manufacturing systems in global production networks.

The research project aims to support decision-making to advance a paradigm shift in the production domain that can enable efficient adaptability and resilience to uncertain changes. These capabilities are needed to secure a competitive advantage in the global wind energy industry. The fierce competition amongst firms increases the introduction rate of larger wind turbines for the onshore and offshore markets. Like the markets, the production is global across multiple factories and countries. Supply disruptions, transportation restrictions, and localization requirements pressure the firms to produce near the demand. However, the demand fluctuates on variety, volume, timing, and location, requiring the production mix of the factories to be adapted accordingly. This imposes frequent reinvestments in capital-intensive assets, which is further intensified when using dedicated manufacturing systems.

The main contribution of the research project is a method and model for the financial evaluation of reconfigurable manufacturing systems in global production networks. The method supports the evaluation of manufacturing systems where reconfigurability is suitable to accommodate new product introductions based on the potential to reduce reinvestment costs. The model supports the calculation of the impact of reconfigurable designs, which includes the investment, reconfiguration, production, inventory, and transportation costs. In brief the method supports to answer which systems are suitable to be reconfigurable? The model supports to answer what are the monetary benefits?

The contributions are validated through industrial application. The results indicate monetary savings of forty to ninety-five million euros per wind turbine blade family over half a decade. The monetary savings are enabled by an efficient, adaptable, and resilient global production network of blade factories with reconfigurable blade molds. The results motivated the decision to patent and implement the design.

From a theoretical perspective, the contribution is a set of works that interconnects the research areas: financial evaluation, reconfigurable manufacturing systems, and global production networks. From an industrial perspective, the contribution can motivate global manufacturing firms to advance the development of reconfigurable manufacturing systems.

DANSK RESUME

Denne PhD afhandling er resultatet af et treårigt forskningsprojekt ved Institut for Materialer og Produktion på Aalborg Universitet i tæt samarbejde med Vestas Wind Systems A/S. Projektet er motiveret af et industrielt- og forskningsmæssigt behov for metoder og modeller til økonomisk evaluering af rekonfigurbare produktionssystemer i globale produktionsnetværker.

Forskningsindsatsen har til hensigt at understøtte beslutningstagen for at fremme et paradigmeskift i produktionsdomænet der kan medføre kosteffektiv tilpasningsevne og modstandsdygtighed overfor uforudsigelige ændringer. Disse kapabiliteter er især nødvendige for at sikre en konkurrencemæssig fordel i den globale vindmølleindustri. Virksomhederne indgår i hård konkurrence der medfører en stigende introduktionsrate af større vindmøller på markeder til både land og hav. Ligesom markederne, så er produktionen global på tværs af adskillige fabrikker og lande. Forsyningsforstyrrelser, transportrestriktioner samt lokaliseringskrav presser virksomhederne til at producere nær efterspørgslen. Efterspørgslen varierer dog i forhold til varietet, volumen, timing, og lokation som kræver at fabrikkernes produktionsmiks tilpasses i overensstemmelse hermed. Aftrækket heraf medfører hyppige geninvesteringer af omkostningstunge aktiver, hvilket ydermere intensiveres ved brug af dedikerede produktionsapparater.

Forskningsprojektets hovedbidrag er henholdsvis en metode og model til økonomisk evaluering af rekonfigurerbare produktionssystemer i globale produktionsnetværker. Metoden understøtter identifikation af produktionssystemer hvor rekonfigurerbarhed er velegnet til at imødekomme nye produktintroduktioner baseret på potentialet for at nedsætte geninvesteringsomkostningerne. Modellen understøtter beregningen af rekonfigurerbare designs omkostningspåvirkning, hvilket inkluderer investerings-, omstillings-, produktions-, lager-, og transportomkostninger. Kort sagt, så er metoden og modellen henholdsvist målrettet besvarelsen af hvilket system der giver mening at lave rekonfigurbart og hvad et efterfølgende design medfører af økonomiske gevinst.

Forskningsbidraget er valideret gennem industriel anvendelse. Resultaterne indikerer en besparelse på en halv milliard danske kroner per vindmøllevingestøbeformsfamilie over et halvt årti. En besparelse der muliggøres af et tilpasnings- og modstandsdygtigt globalt produktionsnetværk af vingefabrikker med rekonfigurbare vingestøbeforme. Resultaterne har motiveret beslutningen om at patentere og implementere designet.

Fra et teoretisk perspektiv, så er bidraget en række værker der sammenkobler dele fra forskningsområderne i økonomisk evaluering, rekonfigurerbare produktionssystemer og globale produktionsnetværker. Fra et industrielt perspektiv, så er bidraget en række værker der kan motivere globale produktionsvirksomheder til at fremme udviklingen af rekonfigurerbare produktionssystemer.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I never believed I would complete a PhD project. I never even intended for university. Somehow, I find myself in this position. It required hard work, some luck, and, most of all, support from the people around me. I could not have done it without them.

Firstly, I would like to thank my three supervisors, *Thomas Ditlev Brunø*, *Ann-Louise Andersen*, and *Kjeld Nielsen*. Without your support, advice, and guidance, I could not have managed the project. *Ann-Louise*, thank you for your encouragement to continue the PhD when I lacked belief. *Thomas* and *Ann-Louise*, thank you for forcing me to take a break when the pressure overwhelmed me. I would also like to thank *Rasmus Andersen* and *Alessia Napoleone* for the discussions and advice. A special thanks to my colleagues from *Jönköping*, *Sweeden*. *Carin Rösiö*, thank you for the opportunity to visit. *Simon Boldt* and *Filip Skärin*, thank you for our collaboration and friendship.

Secondly, I would like to thank Vestas Wind Systems A/S, Manufacturing Academy of Denmark, and Innovation Fund Denmark for allowing me to conduct the research. My first industrial supervisor, Bjørn Christensen, thank you for opening the doors to Vestas and for your guidance. My second industrial supervisor, Mads Bejlegaard, thank you for picking me up, seeing my potential, and supporting my development. Michael Kofoed Dam, thank you for the warm welcome to the team and our field trips. Daniel Grud Hellerup Sørensen, thank you for the collaboration and advice. A special thanks to Henrik Espensen and Søren Damgaard for guiding me through the corporate maze and helping my work reach new heights up the corporate ladder.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family. The love of my life and fiancé, *Aja Katrine Konnerup*, thank you for your support and encouragement over the last seven years. I am sure that I would never have gotten this far without you. My Father, *Bjarne Kjeldgaard*, thank you for your teachings in the workshop and the Lego sets I persuaded you to buy during my childhood. My Mother, *IngeLise Kjeldgaard*, thank you for your support and patience during my education, especially in the early years, no matter how frustrated I was with the math. My Brother, *Lasse Kjeldgaard*, probably my biggest hype man, thank you for your encouragement during our walks and training sessions this last year. A special thanks to my classmates *Vanessa Albrecht*, *Andreas Leon Jorsal*, and *Sabine Ryberg* for the collaboration during our education and our ongoing friendship. A final thanks to all my friends from *Vestervang* for providing a space to take a break and for your encless positivity. In particular, *Daniel Dalsgaard Nielsen* for always believing in me.

Viborg, November 2023

Stefan Kjeldgaard

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Introduction1		
Chapter 2. Theoretical Background	3	
2.1. Manufacturing Paradigms		
2.2. Reconfigurability Characteristics	5	
2.3. Production Levels	6	
2.4. Production Development	6	
2.5. Financial Evaluation	7	
2.6. Production Networks	9	
Chapter 3. Industrial Background	11	
3.1. Context	11	
3.2. Motivation		
3.3. Requirements	14	
Chapter 4. State of the Art	15	
4.1. Evaluation of RMS Potentials	15	
4.2. Evaluation of RMS Designs		
4.3. Evaluation in GPN Contexts		
4.4. Deficits and Propositions	19	
Chapter 5. Research Objective	23	
Chapter 6. Research Design	25	
6.1. Research Paradigm		
6.2. Research Framework		
6.3. Research Methodology		
6.4. Research Methods		
6.4.1. Literature Review		
6.4.2. Case Research		
6.4.3. Quantitative Modeling		
6.5. Research Structure		
Chapter 7. Results		
7.1. Paper A		

7.2. Paper B	34
7.3. Paper C	35
7.4. Paper D	36
7.5. Paper E	37
7.6. Paper F	38
7.7. Paper G	39
Chapter 8. Discussion	.43
8.1. Theoretical Contributions	43
8.2. Industrial Implications	48
8.3. Research Validity	51
Chapter 9. Conclusion	.53
9.1. Research Contributions	53
9.2. Industrial Implications	53
9.3. Future Research	54
References	.55
Appended Papers	.87

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Manufacturing system paradigms. Adapted from [42].	4
Figure 2: Modular architecture of reconfigurable manufacturing systems	5
Figure 3: Production levels and changeability classes. Adapted from [17]	6
Figure 4: Stage-gate development. Adapted from [71].	7
Figure 5: Lifetime costs of manufacturing systems. Adapted from [51]	8
Figure 6: Change drivers in the industrial case. Based on [136,137,144]	13
Figure 7: Design science research framework. Adapted from [286,292]	25
Figure 8: Design science research methodology. Adapted from [294]	27
Figure 9: Quantitative modeling method. Adapted from [109,320]	30
Figure 10: Structure of the PhD project.	32
Figure 11: Savings of RMS relative to DMS design. Based on [162]	41
Figure 12: Evaluation of the knowledge contributions. Adapted from [327]	45
Figure 13: Contributions in stage-gate development. Adapted from [71]	48
Figure 14: Savings of complete relative to partial RMS design	49
Figure 15: Reconfigurable blade shell molds. Retrieved from [333,334]	50
Figure 16: Generalizability and groundedness of the research contributions	51

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AEP	Annual Energy Production
DMS	Dedicated Manufacturing System
DSR	Design Science Research
FMS	Flexible Manufacturing System
GPN	Global Production Network
IP	Integer Programming
LCC	Life Cycle Cost
LCoE	Levelized Cost of Energy
LME	Large Manufacturing Enterprise
LP	Linear Programming
MADE	Manufacturing Academy of Denmark
MIP	Mixed Integer Programming
MSA	Manufacturing System Alternative
NPI	New Product Introduction
NPV	Net Present Value
OEM	Original Equipment Manufacturer
ОМ	Operations Management
PLC	Product Life Cycle
RMS	Reconfigurable Manufacturing System
SME	Small and Medium-sized Enterprise
TNC	Total Network Cost

LIST OF PAPERS

- A. Kjeldgaard, S., Napoleone, A., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2021). Changeable Manufacturing: A Comparative Study of Requirements and Potentials in Two Industrial Cases. In *Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems* (pp. 452-461). IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, 631. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-85902-2_48</u>
- B. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, R., Napoleone, A., Brunoe, T. D., & Andersen, A-L. (2023). Facilitating Manufacturing System Development: Mapping Changeability Capabilities in Two Industrial Cases. In *Advances in System-Integrated Intelligence* (pp. 626-635). Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, 546. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-16281-7_59</u>
- C. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. Evaluation of reconfigurability potentials in a global production network. (Under review by the CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology, submitted November 2023).
- D. Kjeldgaard, S., Brunoe, T. D., Andersen, R., Sorensen, D. G. H., Andersen, A-L., & Nielsen, K. (2022). Brownfield Design of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Architectures: An Application of a Modified MFD to the Capital Goods Industry. *Procedia CIRP*, 107, 1293-1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2022.05.147</u>
- E. Kjeldgaard, S., Jorsal, A. L., Albrecht, V., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2021). Towards a model for evaluating the investment of reconfigurable and platform-based manufacturing concepts considering footprint adaptability. *Procedia CIRP*, 104, 553-558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2021.11.093
- F. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2022). Methods and Models to Evaluate the Investment of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: Literature Review and Research Directions. In *Towards Sustainable Customization: Bridging Smart Products and Manufacturing Systems* (138-146). Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-90700-6_15</u>
- G. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., & Brunoe, T. D. (2023). Enabling adaptability and resilience of a global production network: A model to evaluate capital and operational expenses of reconfigurable production systems. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 66, 142-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2022.12.003</u>

In addition to the main papers of the dissertation enumerated above, a set of smaller contributions have been made in the following books, papers, and videos.

- H. Andersen, A-L., Andersen, R., Napoleone, A., Brunø, T. D., Kjeldgaard, S., Nielsen, K., Sorensen, D. G. H., Raza, M., Bilberg, A., Rösiö, C., Boldt, S., & Skärin, F. (2022). Nye veje til omstillingsparat og rekonfigurerbar produktion: Grundprincipper, fremgangsmåde & eksempler. REKON Press.
- I. Andersen, A-L., Andersen, R., Napoleone, A., Brunø, T. D., Kjeldgaard, S., Nielsen, K., Sorensen, D. G. H., Raza, M., Bilberg, A., Rösiö, C., Boldt, S., & Skärin, F. (2023). Paving the way for changeable and reconfigurable production: Fundamental principles, development method & examples. REKON Press.
- J. Andersen, A-L., Andersen, R., Brunoe, T. D., Larsen, M. S. S., Nielsen, K., Napoleone, A., & Kjeldgaard, S. (Eds.) (2022). *Towards Sustainable Customization: Bridging Smart Products and Manufacturing Systems*. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-90700-6
- K. Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., Larsen, M. S. S., Andersen, R., Nielsen, K., Napoleone, A., & Kjeldgaard, S. (2022). A Bibliometric and Sentiment Analysis of CARV and MCPC Conferences in the 21st Century: Towards Sustainable Customization. In *Towards Sustainable Customization: Bridging Smart Products and Manufacturing Systems* (pp. 3-24). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-90700-6_1</u>
- L. Kjeldgaard, S. (2022). Evaluating Reconfigurability in Production Systems. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RfwrpN4OvQM&t=9s
- M. Kjeldgaard, S. (2022). Design and evaluation of reconfigurable production systems: enabling adaptability and resilience of a global production network. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2U6levzgilk

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

This chapter introduces the PhD project by motivating the research effort. First, with a retrospective example from the automotive industry. Second, with an outline of the current industrial conditions and prospective paradigm shifts for environmental fit to mitigate challenges. Initially, from a broad scope, narrowing to the industrial partner.

In 1909, Henry Ford remarked, "Any customer can have a car painted any color that he wants so long as it is black" [1]. However, "Ford maintained two production lines, one for the cars and one for the jokes" [2]. Although apocryphal, they remain legion, as the famous remark was false at its inception [2]. Multiple colors were optional for Model Ts between 1908 and 1913 [2]. The decision to only make black cars was first made in 1914 due to production considerations [3]. The public quickly accepted the decision and forgot the colorful Fords as the price was cut in half [2]. The reduction was enabled by a paradigm shift towards mass production [4].

"When mass production started, individuality stopped. In order to reduce manufacturing costs and turn out automobiles in sufficient quantity to supply popular demand, producers had to evolve factory methods that permitted economical, high-speed operation. They had to concentrate the forces of men and machinery on the production of standard, stock-stamped motor cars. Instead of making different cars, each manufacturer simply made the same car over and over again. Automobiles that came from the same plant had less individuality among themselves than a nest full of eggs from the same hen" [3,5].

Ford's production was not confined by the boundaries of one manufactory [3]. Some factories were responsible for producing parts, allowing no deviation even in color, as they utilized dedicated machinery and tooling to accommodate the volume and cost requirements and negate the risk of capital losses [4]. Others were responsible for the assembly of cars, using division of labor and moving transfer lines [3]. Moreover, the production boundaries were not even confined to the same continent [1]. Grey Model Ts were produced at the factory in Detroit, Michigan, United States of America, from 1908 [3]. Blue Model Ts were produced at the factory in Trafford Park, Manchester, United Kingdom, from 1911 [2]. The principles of mass production from back home were transferred offshore at an incremental, although fast, pace [1]. In retrospect, the distribution between continents to supply customers with different colored Model Ts was presumably sparse to nonexistent as the addition of transportation costs would be excessive. Nevertheless, different colored Model Ts were out-phased in the domestic markets because dedicated production for differentiated products rendered excessive costs, which customers were unwilling to pay for [3]. They wanted their first car at a cheap price and could not care less about its configuration [2].

The industrial conditions of the former century have evidently changed, prompting paradigm shifts for manufacturing firms to fit with their environment at equifinality to sustain competitiveness [6–12]. Globalization has led to fierce competition, market turbulence, fragmented demands, new product introductions, wide product ranges, and production decentralization [13–15]. The well-established, although antiquated, paradigms of mass production and dedicated manufacturing systems are unfit in light of these conditions, as they limit the responsiveness and utilization of capital-intensive assets [16–19]. In response, the paradigms of *mass customization* and *reconfigurable manufacturing systems* were proposed, which promote modular and platform-based products and manufacturing systems [20–22]. The systems' architectures comprise standardized platforms and interfaces with interchangeable customized modules for rapid and cost-efficient conversion of functionality within a product family [23–31]. In the automotive industry, *Volkswagen AB* applied the principles across the domains to create the *modulare querbaukasten* and *modulare produktionsbaukasten*, reducing asset investments by 30% and increasing productivity by 20% [32,33].

Despite the exemplary success, the principles are scarcely applied across industries, and manufacturers struggle as a consequence [34]. Especially the firms with a similar setup to Ford's, i.e., dedicated production systems in a global production network, are challenged [14]. They need to constantly change the production mix at their factories to chase an uncertain demand that fluctuates on variety, volume, timing, and location, and they struggle with the polylemma of production, transportation, inventory, and investment costs [13,14]. The challenge can be solved through adaptability, which can facilitate resilience to mitigate the impact of black-swan disruptions [14,15]. The paradigm of reconfigurable manufacturing systems has been proposed as an enabler of the decisive competitive capability, yet with a deficit of empirical evaluation [14].

This PhD project aims to bridge the deficit and support a specific industrial partner in their pursuit of environmental fit and competitive advantage through a paradigm shift.

The industrial partner competes in the wind energy industry with global demand and production. The range of products is vast and rapidly expanding with frequent new introductions. The size of products and components is immense, which scales to the systems used in production, storage, transportation, and installation. The customers specify localized production as an order qualifier, and the supply chain has recently been disrupted. In other words, the conditions mentioned earlier are especially present in the context of the industrial partner, but so are the monetary potentials of a sufficient paradigm shift. [35]

According to the current Chief Executive Officer at Vestas Wind Systems A/S:

"Modularization will enable us to optimize the entire value chain and lift industrialization to higher levels, which will ensure long-term competitive advantage for Vestas and accelerate the green transition."

CHAPTER 2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

This chapter presents the theoretical background of the PhD project. First, the three main manufacturing system paradigms are defined to provide a frame of reference for the paradigm shift of interest, i.e., from dedicated to reconfigurable manufacturing systems. After that, the enabling characteristics of reconfigurability and the levels of embodiment are defined to ground the context-specific design in scope. Then, the area of manufacturing system development and the challenge of financial evaluations are outlined to position the research effort and contributions. Finally, the level of global production networks is defined as it is essential to grasp the environment in scope.

2.1. MANUFACTURING PARADIGMS

Manufacturing is derived from *manu factum*, i.e., made by hand, and production is derived from *pro ducere*, i.e., lead forward [36]. Depending on regional contexts, one is defined as the subset of the other [3,37]. They are also used interchangeably [36] and will be throughout this dissertation and its appended papers. A system is the sum of interrelated parts with a purpose [38,39]. A production or manufacturing system is the collection of interlinked resources used to create outputs from inputs [36,37].

Manufacturing firms need to adapt to the conditions of their environment to sustain competitiveness and survive [38]. The conditions change over time and are triggered by internal or external drivers, prompting an extent of change to the manufacturing systems [17,18]. Like the firm, the systems must also fit with internal and external conditions to be efficient [6,7]. The systems are open as they interact with and adapt to their environment, although with resource boundaries that can be specified [40].

Throughout several industrial revolutions, multiple manufacturing system paradigms have been developed to fit with the change drivers of their age [15]. This has resulted in the Dedicated Manufacturing Systems (DMSs), Flexible Manufacturing Systems (FMSs), and Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems (RMSs) [13,16]. In the current age of globalization, manufacturing firms need to adapt to a faster rate of new product introductions (NPIs), shorter product life cycles (PLCs), wider product variety, shorter delivery times, unstable demand, and various context-dependent drivers [13,17,18].

DMSs stem from the second industrial revolution of the 1900s, specifically the era of mass production [13,41]. DMSs have high capacity and low functionality, suitable for high volumes of low variety with stable demand [19,21]. DMSs have fixed, built-in, and pre-planned capabilities for immediate requirements [19,42]. DMSs are usually based on serial transfer lines with synchronized flow and automation [13,16]. DMSs are investment-intensive due to a long lifetime and a high throughput, resulting in low production costs if the capacity is utilized [19,43]. This necessitates a push tactic if

the demand is unstable, increasing inventory costs [13]. If the demand changes, the tactic carries a risk of obsolete products and a reduction of lifetime utilization [17].

FMSs stem from the third industrial revolution of the 1970s [13]. FMSs have a low capacity and high functionality, suitable for low volumes of high variety [17]. FMSs have fixed, built-in, pre-planned, general-purpose, and apriori functionality [19,42]. FMSs are usually based on cells of computer numerical control machines [21,44]. FMSs are investment intensive with low throughput, resulting in high production costs and a revenue risk if demands exceed capacity [21]. FMSs have excess flexibility but are still at risk of low utilization if the functionality exceeds demand [13,19].

The archetypes of DMSs and FMSs carry an inherent dilemma of economies of scale or scope [21]. Mass Customization was introduced in the 1980s to mitigate the tradeoff using modularity and postponement principles [20,45,46]. Within the paradigm, the archetypes are positioned on opposite sides of the differentiation point [13]. As an extension, RMSs were introduced in the late 1990s to solve the dilemma with rapid scalability and convertibility [21]. The rationale of RMSs is the capability to provide:

"Exactly the capacity and functionality needed, exactly when needed" [13].

RMSs are suitable to accommodate unstable volume and variety demands, among other changes. Reconfigurability is, thereby, a dynamic capability that can facilitate a competitive advantage, especially in the current age of globalization [13,15,47]. The difference between the manufacturing system paradigms is illustrated in Figure 1. The position of RMS changes due to its dynamic capability to provide functionality and capacity on demand by conversion or scaling, resulting in new configurations.



Figure 1: Manufacturing system paradigms. Adapted from [42].

2.2. RECONFIGURABILITY CHARACTERISTICS

The two primary characteristics of reconfigurability are convertibility and scalability [42]. Convertibility is the capability of the system to efficiently convert production functionality to new and existing parts within a family [19]. In contrast, scalability is the capability to efficiently scale production capacity [19]. These capabilities are supported by modularity, integrability, and customization [18]. Reconfigurability is enabled by the embodiment of the characteristics in the system's architecture [21].

Architecture is the structural composition of a system's functional and physical parts and interrelationships [38,48,49]. Modularity is the extent to which the architecture is composed of standardized discrete parts with independent functional bindings and standardized de-coupled interfaces to interchange modules across similar variants of systems [23–31]. Integrability is the interconnection of modules through interfaces [19,21]. Customization is the constraint on the system's functionality to a family with similar specifications, e.g., dimensions, geometries, and materials [19,21]. Standard parts and interfaces within a family denote the shared platform with commonality from which a set of variants can be derived [31]. These concepts are interrelated, stem from the product domain, and are relevant to manufacturing systems [21,50].

Within this dissertation and its appended papers, RMSs are defined as manufacturing systems with a modular and platform-based architecture of standardized platforms, standardized interfaces, and interchangeable customized modules for rapid and cost-efficient functionality conversion within a part family. An example of the conversion of an RMS architecture is illustrated in Figure 2. The diametric opposition is a system with an integral architecture composed of interdependent parts with coupled interfaces and interconnection [28,48]. The structural composition is usually more cost-efficient in the shorter term than the modular opposition [49]. Although only to the extent that requirements are stable, otherwise requiring a change of the complete system rather than a part of it, as in the case of DMSs [17,43,51,52].



Figure 2: Modular architecture of reconfigurable manufacturing systems.

2.3. PRODUCTION LEVELS

Reconfigurability and flexibility are encompassed under the changeability umbrella. Changeability is the capability to make cost-efficient and timely changes on all levels of production [17,18]. Production can be structured in six hierarchical levels: network, factory, segment, system, cell, and station [17,53–57]. The levels are generic and may not be easy to distinguish or applicable in some cases, e.g., some firms do not operate with a network of factories, a factory of segments, or a system of cells [18,58,59].

Reconfigurability and flexibility are positioned on levels below the factory [17,18]. In contrast, transformability and agility are on the factory and network level, referring to the tactical change of the production mix of factories and the strategic response to changing market conditions [17,18]. It can be argued that reconfigurability on lower levels positively impacts the extent of changeability on higher levels [58,60]. The production levels and their related changeability classes are illustrated in Figure 3.

One level is explicitly labeled as the system, referring to the production lines [17,18]. However, a system can also be regarded as the constituents of the lines, down to the machines, equipment, and tooling [13,19,21,61]. Systems theory would argue that all levels are either a system or a system of systems [38,39]. The levels below the factory and their constituents will be referred to as systems throughout this dissertation and its appended papers to encompass the boundary of any kind of manufacturing system while maintaining a clear distinction of capabilities between higher and lower levels.

2.4. PRODUCTION DEVELOPMENT

In contrast to product development and Operations Management (OM), production development is a neglected and underreported area where research is scarce [62–65]. However, the research is necessary, as indicated in the following quote:

"As industrial competition increases it becomes more apparent that improved levels of out-put, efficiency, and quality can only be achieved by designing better production systems rather than by merely exercising greater control over existing ones" [36,66].

The aim of production development is either radical or incremental, i.e., develop new systems or improve already existing systems [36]. The radical is more suitable to comply with new requirements as it is not bound by the same constraints [36,66].



Figure 3: Production levels and changeability classes. Adapted from [17].

The development of RMSs can be characterized as radical as it deals with a paradigm shift. However, the realization of RMSs lacks support from the current research, which has primarily focused on discrete, narrow, and partial parts of the development, e.g., product family grouping, layout optimization, and configuration selection [67].

The development of RMSs takes outset in general production development, which is similar to product development, by means of stage-gate development, despite dealing with their own challenges [36,61,67–70]. These development methods differ slightly in scope, granularity, and overlap [67]. However, all propose the stages of requirement specification, conceptual design, detailed design, and implementation. The evaluation occurs within and between stages at the intermediate gates [71,72]. The stage-gate development is illustrated in Figure 4. In RMS development, emphasis is placed on the complexity of co-evolution and the criticality of financial evaluation [73–75].

RMSs are complex systems, and their development is a challenging task [58,76]. This is due to their capability to co-evolve with the product range and respond to demand uncertainty [73,77]. The complexity increases as reconfigurability can be embodied in several ways, to several extents [18,78,79]. Production development usually occurs at the tail end of product development, with less priority than products, imposing time and resource constraints on the development [36,80]. It usually leads to one-off DMSs that resolve the immediately present product and volume requirements that are subject to change over time, rather than RMSs with long-term properties for dynamic and changing requirements that must be embodied early in the design [36,81]. Platform-based co-development is proposed to solve the short-sighted dedicated development by the simultaneous development of both products and production systems [22,82]. This has at least been argued since 1995 related to integrated development, integrated, concurrent engineering, and design for manufacturing [50,83–88].

2.5. FINANCIAL EVALUATION

Evaluation is critical to justify the initial investment of RMSs, which exceeds DMSs due to their modular architecture with built-in convertibility [18,51,73,75]. The initial investment is a barrier to the industrial transition, although the long-term benefit of efficient response to uncertainty is recognized [34,89,90]. Evaluations are used to compare the feasibility and suitability of designs, and they are critical in development [36,73]. This is because 80% of the investment in systems is committed by decisions taken in the first 20% of the development [91,92]. Moreover, principal design flaws resulting from inferior early decisions are progressively complicated and expensive to correct in later stages, if even possible at all [70,84,93,94].



Figure 4: Stage-gate development. Adapted from [71].

Financial evaluations are periodically made between the stages to advance through the screening at intermediate gates [71,95]. The aim is to validate and substantiate the design alternatives' monetary benefits by comprehensive analysis [36,96–98]. The monetary quantification is the basis for decision-making with less bounded rationality and uncertainty [80,95]. In the industry, it manifests as business cases to justify the investment and persuade stakeholders [71,99,100]. In turn, to secure the managerial commitment and financial backing to advance the development [84,101–103]. It is especially critical, as resources are shared amongst development projects, creating scarcity due to competition from inverse interdependencies [104–106].

Engineers and managers alike prefer numbers over words [107,108]. However, they do not trust the numbers unquestioningly and are less likely to be persuaded [99]. It strengthens the filtration of inferior solutions by scrutiny, which raises the bar to pass. Accordingly, the financial evaluation should be grounded in comprehensive cost and performance analysis of the technical design and its intended operation according to the conditions of its environment where simulation or optimization models are favored in the field of operations and supply chain management [14,36,96,97,109].

However, qualitative, subjective estimates of upsides are also relevant because "*not everything that can be counted counts, and not everything that counts can be counted*" [110]. This is especially the case early in the development, where a comprehensive analysis takes time and effort [111,112]. This is unreasonable when concepts are not designed and infeasible due to resource scarcity. The financial evaluation is therefore suggested to occur in multiple stages [71,95]. Starting with quick-and-dirty analyses [111,112]. Ending with comprehensive quantitative modeling [14,96,97,109]. The lifetime costs of the manufacturing system paradigms are illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Lifetime costs of manufacturing systems. Adapted from [51].

2.6. PRODUCTION NETWORKS

From a resource perspective, Global Production Networks (GPNs) are geographically dispersed production entities interlinked by material, information, and financial flows [14,113]. In 1984, Miles and Snow [114] predicted that dynamic network organization of production would emerge in the new millennium to fit global changing markets. The prediction held [115]. Today, GPNs are the most critical form of organization and account for nearly 80% of global trade [14,116,117]. The management of GPNs has, therefore, progressively become a focus of attention in research [113,118–120].

The architecture of GPNs has vertical, horizontal, hierarchical, geographical, and proprietorial dimensions related to the tiers, entities, locations, and owners [113]. GPNs encompass supply chains of up- and downstream tiers, e.g., material suppliers, system vendors, component factories, pre-assembly sites, and installation sites [14]. GPNs encompass footprints of entities divided by geography due to, e.g., offshoring necessitating transport [114-118]. GPNs can be divided into segments according to the markets, i.e., regions or products [119]. GPNs can exceed a firm's boundary via outsourcing, joint ventures, partnerships, mergers, and acquisitions [120-122]. GPN architectures form incrementally in response to changing conditions [123-126]. GPNs are thus complex, dynamic, and open systems [113,127]. Their complexity and size constrain their ability to pivot towards changes, making them susceptible to a lag with a risk of failing to keep pace with the dynamic conditions of today [14,116,128,129]. Focal GPNs are defined by the boundaries drawn from the perspective of an OEM and their scope [113,130,131]. The construct of focal GPNs is applied throughout this dissertation and its appended papers. There is a trade-off between the roles for lowcost and close-to-market production, which is related to the GPN phenotype [118].

GPN phenotypes refer to the architecture of factories and interrelations [119]. Based on an industrial analysis [132], Meyer and Jacob [118,133,134] proposed five generic phenotypes, since acknowledged in research [14,114,135]. The phenotypes differ on economies of scale and scope versus local adaptation and transaction costs [118]. The fifth phenotype is of interest throughout this dissertation and its appended papers.

"The fifth phenotype, the Web Structure, is characterized by the fact that all production plants are able to manufacture all products being offered. Using this phenotype, local adaption as well as the utilization of economies of scale are low on one side. On the other side, due to excess resources and capacities, the production network can breathe in case of volatile demand, and capacity utilization can be smoothed. This is a unique feature which makes the Web Structure superior in terms of flexibility and agility. As it combines the benefits of centralization with benefits of high capacity utilization and close to-market production, the Web Structure is propagated as being the future phenotype for industry. Even today, it is the most common phenotype" [14].

CHAPTER 3. INDUSTRIAL BACKGROUND

This chapter presents the industrial partner's context, motivation, and requirements, which have situated and driven the research effort throughout the PhD project.

The PhD project is part of the national research program Manufacturing Academy of Denmark (MADE). Specifically, the third research platform, MADE FAST (Flexible, Agile, and Sustainable production enabled by Talented employees), in the third work package on agile production systems. The industrial partner is Vestas Wind Systems A/S. Vestas provided the relevant problems and requirements to address by designing and validating rigorous contextual solutions. The PhD project is also affiliated with the national research project: development of Reconfigurable Production (REKON). It provided the opportunity for comparative studies at different case companies.

3.1. CONTEXT

An overview of the company, market, product, and production characteristics of the industrial partner is provided in Table 1 and is outlined in the following paragraphs.

Cha	racteristic	Description
Company	Name	Vestas Wind Systems A/S (founded in 1945).
	Size	Global LME with 29,000 employees.
	Industry	Capital goods for the wind energy sector.
	Position	Largest OEM with 169 GW of 906 GW installed
Market	Segment	Onshore and offshore wind energy.
	Reach	Installed capacity in 88 countries and five regions.
	Share	13.3 GW of 77.6 GW installed capacity in 2022.
Product	Product	Onshore and offshore wind turbines.
	Variety	\geq 18 turbines across five platforms in the portfolio.
	Specification	Rotor diameter up to 236 m with 363 MWh in 24 hrs.
	Life-cycle	Ranges between two years and two decades.
	Introduction	More than one new turbine introduction per year.
Production	Context	Manufacturing of blades and assembly of nacelles.
	Volume	Approximately 3,500 turbines per year.
	Network	21 factories in 11 countries across five regions.
	Paradigm	A mix of dedicated and flexible production systems.

 Table 1: Overview of the industrial context.

Vestas is a Large Manufacturing Enterprise (LME) with 29,000 employees [136]. Vestas operates in the capital goods industry for the energy sector. Vestas is the largest Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) benchmarked on installed wind turbines of 86,537 and installed wind capacity of 169 GW as of June 2023 [137,138]. Vestas is the global market leader in wind energy, with 13.3 GW of the 77.6 GW installed wind capacity in 2022 [35,136,138]. The market comprises the onshore and offshore wind energy segments for North and Central Europe, the Mediterranean, North America, Latin America, and the Asian Pacific [137]. Vestas has a Business-to-Business (B2B) and Business-to-Government (B2G) model and is engaged throughout the complete value chain, i.e., from development, manufacturing, and installation to service [136].

The energy sector competes on Levelized Cost of Energy (LCoE) as the order winner of projects in reverse auctions, i.e., tenders [139]. LCoE [€/MWh] can be improved by reducing costs or increasing performance, i.e., Annual Energy Production (AEP) [35]. AEP [MWh] can be improved by increasing the swept area by the rotor diameter by the blade length or by increasing the captured wind speed by the rotor height by the tower height [140–142]. These specifications constitute the primary technical enablers of competitive advantage and require the resolution of various constraints [141]. In layman's terms, the OEMs compete in a race for larger turbines suited to various site conditions, e.g., wind classes, etc. The derived effect is an increased rate of New Product Introductions (NPI) due to increased competition [143].

Vestas' NPI rate is more than one new turbine per year [137,144]. The Product Life Cycle (PLC) varies from the V90 with two decades to the V116 with two years [137]. The active product portfolio comprises 18 wind turbines with different rotor diameters across five platforms [137]. The rotor diameters vary from the V90 to the V236, and the latter set the world record in 2023 for most power output, i.e., 363 MWh in 24 hours [145]. The production volume is currently ~ 3,500 turbines per year [137,144]. The demand is expected to grow, as the installed wind energy capacity of 906 GW in 2022 must increase to meet the anticipated 2-3 TW demand in 2030 [35,136,146].

The critical components of wind turbines consist of the blades, nacelle, hub, tower, and powertrain. The blade geometries vary with a one-to-one relation to wind turbines due to the dependency between the blade lengths and rotor diameters. In contrast, the nacelle geometry is standard in each platform. The blade root diameters are standard in each platform due to the dependency between the blade and nacelle interfaces. The blade max chord is common in families due to family-based design. [147–149]

The PhD project was scoped with a primary focus on blades but was later expanded with a secondary focus on the nacelle. Blade production was deemed most relevant due to (i) a higher production volume and longer cycle times, which creates a need for more factories and systems to enable the required capacity, and (ii) larger dimensions and variety of products, which also scales to the geometry-dependent manufacturing systems [150].

The former increases the number of investments, and the latter the cost of tangible assets. Together, increasing the investment intensity and the improvement potential.

The derived impact of the wind turbines' scaling can be portrayed using the disclosed information of the V164 as an example. The nacelle has a length of 20 meters, height and width of eight meters, and weight of 390 tons [151]. The blades have a length of 80 meters, root diameter of 4.6 meters, and weight of 33-35 tons [150,151]. The blade shell mold has a length of 80 meters, width of 6.6 meters, height of 5.5 meters, and weight of 50-75 tons [152]. The scale sets requirements for factories' infrastructure, e.g., shop floors with a length of 220 meters and a width capable of handling upwards of six blade molds, partially due to the cycle time of, e.g., a V236 blade shell mold was necessitated to be split into ten modules to make its transportation feasible [154].

The production context is manufacturing for blades and assembly for nacelles. The global production network comprises 15 blade factories and seven nacelle factories in 11 countries across five regions [136]. The former has gradually been outsourced to a near-equal division, and the latter is retained in-house. The production paradigm is a mix of dedicated and flexible systems. The production setup is primarily manual, with little automation. The planning policy is a mix of made-to-order and made-to-forecast.

3.2. MOTIVATION

The motivation for reconfigurability is rooted in the ability to accommodate changes. The drivers of changes comprise external and internal conditions in the case context. Selected drivers in the industrial case are illustrated in Figure 6. It presents ten drivers, their development patterns, and the percentual increase over time.



Figure 6: Change drivers in the industrial case. Based on [136,137,144].

To varying extents, the interrelated drivers necessitate changes. The NPI rate and PLC increase the variety. The demand impacts the production volume and the number of countries to supply. The volume, reach, and extent of local content requirements affect the number of factories to balance the regional production mixes. The variability in demand on volume, variety, and location impacts the number of reconfigurations and installations. The reconfigurations, installations, dimensions, and NPI rate affect the number of investments in tangible assets. The distance between factories and sites, product dimensions, and global disruptions impact transportation costs.

The majority of change drivers have increased somewhat steadily, some even by leaps and bounds, taking the differing horizons into account. Yet, the patterns also show a disruption of the pandemic in reduced production and increased transportation costs.

3.3. REQUIREMENTS

In 2012, Vestas designed its first modular product. In 2014, the initial success paved the way to embark on a committed journey. In 2020, modularization became one of the most critical strategic priorities, i.e., a must-win battle, to combat the increasing complexity of a diversified portfolio of larger products. From 2023, the next step was to implement the modularization principles throughout the value chain. In 2020, the development of RMSs was initiated to implement the principles of modularity in the production domain. It posed the PhD project with three questions:

- I. What should be reconfigurable?
- II. How do we enable reconfigurability?
- III. What are the benefits of reconfigurability?

In addition, two main focus areas were to be considered by the research in the pursuit of answering the three questions. The first was multiple financial evaluations, as the firm operates with a policy of business case certainty and stage-gate development. The second was the scope of the global production network, as the firm operates with over twenty factories and hundreds of manufacturing systems. These focus areas were required to be present in the evaluations of suitable systems and potentials and the evaluations of conceptual and detailed designs. The firm also hypothesized that RMSs could enable adaptability and resilience of the global production network. However, the exact potentials proved challenging to quantify, which formed a sub-focus on the financial evaluation.

Based on the requirements from the industrial partner, the relevance and research topic of the PhD project lies in the intersection between three research areas:

- I. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems.
- II. Global production networks.
- III. Financial evaluations.
CHAPTER 4. STATE OF THE ART

This chapter presents the state-of-the-art literature related to the research topic of the PhD project. First, the rationale of the RMS paradigm from its inception to the present is outlined. After that, the methods for identifying and evaluating RMS potentials are presented. Then, the quantitative models for the financial evaluation of RMS designs are presented. Hereafter, works on evaluation in the context of GPNs are outlined. Finally, the deficits and propositions related to the research topic are presented. The chapter summarizes and expands upon the reviews by Kjeldgaard et al. [156–162].

Throughout the 1990s, the RMS paradigm was developed with the rationale to rapidly and cost-efficiently cope with an increasing pace of unpredictable changes, e.g., NPI frequency and demand mix variability [163–169]. Throughout the 2000s, RMS was umbrellaed under CMS to accommodate the challenges of globalization, e.g., fierce competition, market turbulence, product heterogeneity, and demand fragmentation [13,17,18,114]. The challenges increased during the 2010s to the extent that dynamic capabilities are indispensable for global OEMs to sustain competitiveness in fierce global markets with uncertainty and volatility [16,43,131,170]. At the outset of the 2020s, the rationale for RMS has reached a detrimental breaking point due to the emergence of black swan events requiring OEMs and GPNs alike to be adaptable and resilient to changing and disruptive conditions [15,116,171–173].

4.1. EVALUATION OF RMS POTENTIALS

The identification and evaluation of RMS potentials are positioned within the stage of requirement specification towards the gate of conceptual design. The aim is to screen the suitability of manufacturing systems for reconfigurability embodiment based on technical, operational, or financial performance. In essence, to answer which should be reconfigurable and motivate their redesign based on the performance potentials.

Qualitative case studies were conducted by Heim et al. [174] in 2014 based on works from 2006-2012 [175–179] and by Boldt et al. [180] in 2021 based on a method from 2020 [181]. The studies evaluate the extent of reconfigurability enablers' embodiment in present manufacturing systems. Their approach can be applied to evaluate how reconfigurability is enabled in systems [67,182]. However, it cannot be applied to evaluate which systems are suitable to be reconfigurable, which is needed by industry as it can be advantageous in some and a wasted investment in others [43,58,76,183].

Andersen et al. [207] conducted a quantitative case study in 2015. The study evaluates the reconfigurability potential of improved production capacity in past manufacturing systems. The scenario and data-based approach towards a pragmatic quantification of what-if potentials can motivate industrial redesign. However, a prospective approach promotes a greater extent of urgency than a retrospective by linking the motivation to the burning platform of NPIs [34,82,183]. Moreover, the approach delimits the impact of reconfiguration time on production capacity, which is proposed for inclusion [184].

Bejlegaard et al. [185] conducted a quantitative case study in 2016. The study mainly evaluates the reconfigurability potential of reduced variety and reconfiguration time in future manufacturing systems. The measures are suitable for evaluation as they have been validated in industry [58,61,186]. However, the study is ambiguous on the calculation of the potentials, which constrains reproducibility in other cases [187,188].

Case-validated mixed methods were proposed by Coppini et al. [189] in 2017, by Fries et al. [190] in 2023, and by Boldt et al. [191] in 2023. The methods are used to evaluate the reconfigurability potential of reduced investment and operational costs of future manufacturing systems. The measures are suitable for evaluation as they have been validated in industry [43,52,192]. The methods require a pre-selection of systems to evaluate, which is less ideal in the context of a GPN due to a broader scope [193].

Andersen et al. [194] proposed a case-validated mixed-method in 2018. The method is used to evaluate the paradigm of changeability in present manufacturing systems. The method includes a fit-gap mapping between the current and suitable paradigms, which supports the identification of discrepancies and conformities [73,74,195].

Schou et al. [196] proposed a case-validated mixed-method in 2020 based on methods from 2018-2019 [193,197,198]. The method is used to evaluate the changes to present manufacturing processes. The method also includes a fit-gap mapping, similar to the method proposed by Andersen et al. [194], albeit on the specification level between new requirements and current capabilities. The method thereby supports identifying if requirements exceed or comply with capabilities, which processes can be reused for NPIs, and which specifications constrain reusability [34,183,199,200]. This means the method aids in evaluating whether, e.g., flexibility is suitable, but also how flexible it should be and on which specifications. However, as manufacturing processes are scoped, the method does not support identifying which systems enable and constrain the capabilities, necessitating further analysis to identify a suitable system for redesign [61]. Moreover, as both the method proposed by Andersen et al. [194] and Schou et al. [196] delimits the quantification of potentials, they are less suitable to motivate suitable manufacturing systems for redesign [34,82,183].

4.2. EVALUATION OF RMS DESIGNS

The financial evaluation of RMS designs is positioned across the stages and gates of conceptual and detailed design. The aim is to evaluate and compare alternative designs of manufacturing systems based on their financial performance grounded in their technical and operational performance. In essence, to determine which design is most suitable for detailed design or implementation based on their performance.

In 2004, Wiendahl and Heger [51] introduced a method for the financial evaluation of CMSs relative to DMSs. The method applies break-even analysis on the Life-Cycle Costs (LCCs) of Manufacturing System Alternatives (MSAs). The method contributes with an evaluation of the lifetime reconfiguration investments in addition to the initial investment, which the traditional approaches solely focus on [18,36]. The method also contributes with a scenario-based approach to incorporate uncertainty. The inclusion of LCCs and scenarios is critical to evaluate the long-term benefits of RMSs, which is needed to advance the industrial transition [73,74,89,90,201].

In 2008, Milberg and Möller [202] provided a framework for the financial evaluation of CMSs. The framework suggests a probabilistic analysis on the Net Present Values (NPVs) of MSAs. In 2008, Kuzgunkaya and ElMaraghy [203] provided a model for the financial evaluation of RMSs relative to FMSs. The model applies numerical analysis on the NPVs of MSAs, calculated by Linear Programming (LP). The model contributes with an optimization approach, which is suitable to capture the complexity of RMSs in terms of multi-dimensional capabilities and context-specific embodiments [34,43,76,204]. The model also contributes with a parameter of lifetime production capacity. The parameter is critical to capture the RMS potential of improved lifetime capacity utilization and the derived impact of reduced investments [34,205].

In 2014, Niroomand et al. [206] provided a model for the financial evaluation of RMSs relative to FMSs and DMSs, which expands upon earlier works from 2012 [205]. The model optimizes the allocations of production mix and resource investments among MSAs, calculated by Mixed Integer Programming (MIP) and validated by discrete event simulation. The model contributes with the scope of a factory with MSAs and variables for ramp-up and reconfiguration time. The scope and variables support to capture the RMS potential of improved responsiveness to changes in production mix along with improved production capacity utilization [69,207–209].

In 2017, Gyulai et al. [184] provided a model for the financial evaluation of RMSs relative to DMSs, which expands upon earlier works from 2014 [210,211]. The model applies numerical analysis on the LCCs of MSAs, calculated by hierarchical LP. The model contributes with variables to reconfigure MSAs by interchanging modules, which is critical to evaluate design architectures of RMSs rather than reconfigurability as a generic capability [76,89]. Moreover, the model contributes with a rolling horizon heuristic to incorporate demand uncertainty, which supports to evaluate the long-term benefits of RMSs [34,204]. The heuristic stems from seminal works in OM research [212,213]. The rationale is still relevant as the heuristic imposes bounded rationality where RMSs can mitigate the compounding impacts of sub-optimal decisions [214].

In 2018, Andersen et al. [192] provided a model for the financial evaluation of RMSs relative to FMSs and DMSs. The model uses probabilistic analysis on the discounted total costs of MSAs, calculated by Monte Carlo simulation. The model contributes with an empirical validation where an industrial design is evaluated in an industrial

context, which is needed to advance the industrial transition [34,89,215]. Moreover, the model contributes with parameters of spatial capacity. The parameter supports to capture the RMS potential of improved spatial capacity utilization and the derived effect of increased functionality in the case of spatial constraints [58,60,183,205]. In 2021, Bortolini et al. [216] provided a model for the performance evaluation of RMSs, which expands upon an earlier work from 2019 [217]. The model applies Numerical Analysis on the reconfiguration time of MSAs, calculated by LP.

In 2018, Becker et al. [218] provided a model with utility for the financial evaluation of RMSs in GPNs, which expands upon earlier works in 2018 [219] and 2017 [220]. The model applies probabilistic analysis on Total Network Costs (TNCs), calculated by MIP. The model contributes with the scope of a Local for Local phenotype. Herein, the model contributes with variables for transporting manufacturing system modules between factories. However, the model assumes a fixed set of modules is available and delimits additional supply. The latter is critical to evaluate the impact of suppliers' capacity and lead-time constraints on factories' responsiveness [183,221].

In 2019, Tian et al. [222] provided a model with utility for the financial evaluation of RMSs in GPNs, which expands upon earlier works in 2018 [223]. The model uses numerical analysis on TNCs, calculated by MIP. The model contributes with the scope of a mixed chain and local for local phenotype and variables for transporting products from factories to sites. The variables support to capture the RMS potential of reduced transportation costs and investments in the case of local content constraints [58,60].

In 2021, Epureanu et al. [224] provided a model for the financial evaluation of RMSs in GPNs, which expands upon an earlier work from 2018 [225]. The model applies numerical analysis on TNCs, calculated by hierarchical LP. The model contributes with a scope of a reversed hub and spoke and variables for the inventory of products. The variables support to capture the RMS potential of improved inventory costs in case of mix variability and reduced investments to prepare for peak periods [58,60]. The model also contributes with a disruptive scenario, which supports to evaluate the RMS potential of increased adaptability and resilience of GPNs [173,186,207,226].

In 2023, Klenk et al. [127] provided a model with utility for the financial evaluation of RMSs in GPNs that expands upon earlier works from 2021 [227] and 2018 [228]. The model applies numerical analysis on TNCs, calculated by MIP. It contributes with a scope of a mixed chain and web structure. The latter is the prevailing phenotype in the industry and is projected as the suitable phenotype for the future [14,229].

4.3. EVALUATION IN GPN CONTEXTS

The area of GPNs has recently gained traction in research. Nevertheless, there is still a research deficit on the intersection of RMSs and GPNs. The novel research works on evaluation in the context of GPNs are outlined in this section, although they cannot

be positioned within any stage or gate of development. However, they are outlined as the works provide a novel scope and a set of considerations that can contribute as an additional facet or layer to the research area of evaluation within RMS development.

Treber et al. [122] provide a method to evaluate the reallocation of resources between factories in GPNs. Aguila and ElMaraghy [230] provide a system dynamics model to evaluate the performance of GPNs against disruptions. Buergin et al. [231] provide a MIP model to evaluate the allocation of production mix among factories in GPNs. Biswas et al. [186] provide a framework to evaluate enablers of adaptability in GPNs. Liao et al. [232] provide a MIP model to evaluate designs of closed-loop GPNs. Shen et al. [233] provide a MIP model to evaluate the performance of GPNs. Verhaelen et al. [234] provide a method to evaluate new locations of factories in GPNs. Verhaelen et al. [235] provide a framework of measures to evaluate the performance of GPNs. Verhaelen et al. [208] provide a method to evaluate production ramp-up efficiency for SMEs in GPNs. Hamzaday et al. [236] provide a MIP model to evaluate designs of assembly systems in GPNs. Roudbari et al. [237] provide a MIP model to evaluate designs of reverse logistics in GPNs. Pourhejazy et al. [238] provide a MIP model to evaluate designs of assembly systems in GPNs. Rajesh [239] conducted a study on enablers of resilience in GPNs. Chen et al. [240] provide a MIP model to evaluate enablers of resilience in GPNs. Peukert et al. [116] provided a method to evaluate production and logistics-related contingencies against risks in GPNs.

4.4. DEFICITS AND PROPOSITIONS

This section summarizes the deficits and propositions within state-of-the-art literature related to the research topic of the PhD project. First, within the research area of RMS. Then, in the research area of GPN. Finally, in the intersecting research area.

OEMs in the automotive industry have pioneered the implementation of RMSs and capitalized on cost-efficient responsiveness [52,241–245]. A prominent example is the *Modulare Produktionsbaukasten* for the *Modulare Querbaukasten* by *Volkswagen AB*. It reduced asset investments by 30% and increased productivity by 20% [32,33]. However, the widespread implementation of RMSs is scarce, although practitioners acknowledge the potential [34,52,89,204,246]. The number of publications on RMS has increased by 185% throughout the 2010s, relative to the 2000s [215]. The research has mainly focused on the desk-based creation of theoretical methods and models for family formation, enabler assessment, configuration optimization, design automation, layout planning, and process scheduling [34,183,204,215,221]. However, the research provides limited support to the industrial transition as it does not aid in mitigating two primary barriers [34,204,215]. A barrier is a deficit of empirical research on the design, evaluation, and potential of RMSs [58,189,247]. In this regard, there is a need for case studies on relations between the multi-dimensional and context-dependent requirements, enablers, and potentials in different industrial contexts [34,43,58,76].

A second barrier is a deficit of methods and models as decision support to financial evaluation [67,68,73–75]. A deficit is a method to support the pre-design evaluation of manufacturing systems suitable for reconfigurability embodiment [34,76,183,204]. The method should include a prospective fit-gap mapping between the requirements of NPIs and the current capabilities of manufacturing systems on a specification level to create urgent motivation for redesign [73,82,195,199,200]. The method should also quantify the potential of improved investment costs, operational costs, reconfiguration time, and production capacity [43,52,58,61,184]. The method should have a mixed approach for time- and resource-efficient identification of an area for comprehensive evaluation [248–251]. The method should include systematic practical guidelines and industrial validation to support application [182,185,252]. A second deficit is methods to support the design of RMSs [61,67,74,204]. The method should include the value chain requirements and constraints of the GPN [43,253].

A third deficit is models to support the post-design evaluation of the impact of RMSs on financial performance [34,73,89,215,221]. The model should include rolling- and scenario-based quantification of LCCs to incorporate uncertainty and evaluate the long-term benefits of RMSs to advance the industrial transition [74,90,183,201,214]. The model should be based on optimization to accommodate the complexity of multidimensional capabilities and context-specific embodiments of RMSs [34,43,76,204]. The model should be monolithic rather than hierarchical, as the evaluation is recursive and not iterative, to integrate strategic, tactical, and operational decisions [254]. The model should reconfigure systems by interchanging modules to evaluate RMS design architectures rather than the generic capability [76,89]. The model should include the lifetime and ramp-up capacity of the manufacturing systems and the spatial capacity of the factories to evaluate the impact on lifetime-, production-, and spatial capacity utilization, which affects the responsiveness of factories to changes in production mix [69,185,207,208,253,255]. The model should include the production, inventory, and transportation of system modules from suppliers to factories to evaluate the impact of capacity- and lead time constraints on the responsiveness of factories and the potential of reduced investment costs and inventory costs [58,60,183,221]. The model should include the transportation of products from factories to sites to evaluate the potential of improved transportation costs [58,60]. The model should be scoped towards GPN contexts [15,34,43,224,226]. The web structure phenotype is especially of interest to both research and industry alike [14,229]. The model should be able to evaluate the adaptability and resilience of GPNs [172,173,186,207,226].

There is a deficit of decision support for the design and operation of GPNs [14]. Three separate, although interlinked, tasks of the core area have become a focus of attention in research because of an increasing industrial need for support to the complex tasks [14,227,235,256,257]. One critical task is the structural footprint design [258–260]. There is a deficit of enablers of adaptability and resilience to accommodate changes, uncertainty, and disruptions [15,121,240,261–264]. The deficit is related to a call for research on enablers of low-cost and close-to-market production to negate hysteresis

[14.208.265]. A second critical task is the allocation of production mix at factories. where the increased product variety and demand variability are critical challenges for OEMs in GPNs [122,266,267]. With globalization, Koren [13] emphasizes the need to "deliver the desired product, in the correct quantity, at the correct time, at the right place". A third critical task is the allocation of resources where there is a deficit of models to support the configuration of assets, functionalities, and capacities among factories [263,268–272]. The decisions are only reversible at a significant cost due to a high investment intensity, which impacts the long-term financial performance of the GPNs [127,133,227,234,273]. The impact of inferior decisions can be mitigated, and the cost and time efficiency of GPNs can be improved with a shift towards CMSs for a decisive competitive advantage [14,208,265]. The potential cost savings can be up to 45%, whereas most manufacturing firms only realize about 10% [122,133,235]. However, the evaluation of improvement potentials in GPNs is a challenge and lacks exploration in research [122,235,274-276]. All of the aforementioned is interlinked, where the lack of support for the financial evaluation of CMSs in GPN contexts leads to inferior decisions and untapped potential for adaptability and resilience. Therefore, research is proposed on methods to identify improvement potentials and optimization models to evaluate the extent of the potentials [121,123,258,264,269,277-279].

There is a deficit of research on RMSs in GPNs [15,204,226]. Veritably, less than 4% of RMS research covers GPNs [59]. The deficit limits manufacturing firms' shift to RMS and its benefits [204,253,280,281]. The benefits of RMSs in GPNs have recently gained traction in research [186,282–284]. Even to the extent that potentials have been identified in industrial cases [58,60]. However, the realization requires decision support throughout the development [34]. In light of recent black-swan disruptions, RMSs have been hypothesized as an enabler of the adaptability and resilience of GPNs [172,173,186,207,226,282]. However, there is a deficit of empirical validation of the hypothesis [14,224]. It relates to deficits on methods for the pre-design evaluation of RMS potentials in GPNs and models for the post-design evaluation of the financial performance impact of RMS in GPNs [15,34,204,224].

Based on the deficits and propositions mentioned earlier, the two main contributions needed in research to support global manufacturing firms can be summarized as:

A method to support pre-design evaluation of manufacturing systems suitable for the embodiment of reconfigurability to comply with NPIs in GPNs based on the potentials of investment costs, operational costs, reconfiguration time, and production capacity.

A model to support post-design evaluation of the financial impact of RMSs in GPNs with a three-tiered web structure using rolling- and scenario-based optimization of the production, inventory, and transportation of units from vendors to factories to sites where the ramp-up, lifetime, and modular interchange of systems is considered.

CHAPTER 5. RESEARCH OBJECTIVE

From the industrial background, there is a need to support the financial evaluation of reconfigurable manufacturing systems in the context of global production networks. From a review of state-of-the-art literature in the research area, it is evident that there is a deficit of sufficient decision support. To solve the industrial problem and bridge the research deficits requires the design of suitable methods and models.

The research objective is therefore:

To design and validate methods and models for the financial evaluation of reconfigurable manufacturing systems in the context of global production networks.

Global production networks are characterized by geographically dispersed production entities from the perspective of an original equipment manufacturer. The PhD project aims to provide decision support to the structural design of an adaptable and resilient three-tiered web-structure production footprint with a mixed low-cost close-to-market strategy, facilitated by the dynamic allocation and configuration of production mix, resources, functionalities, and capacities in accordance with fluctuations in demands. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems are hypothesized as an enabler of the before mentioned, and they are characterized by modular and platform-based architectures of standardized platforms and interfaces with interchangeable customized modules for rapid and cost-efficient conversion of functionality within the range of a part family. The research aims to aid the industrial transition by providing decision support for the financial evaluation of potentials and designs throughout the development.

The associated research questions are, therefore:

- **RQ1.** How can the potential of reconfigurable manufacturing systems be identified and evaluated in the context of global production networks?
- **RQ2.** How can the financial impact of reconfigurable manufacturing system designs be evaluated in the context of global production networks?

CHAPTER 6. RESEARCH DESIGN

This chapter presents the research design of the PhD project. First, the rationale of the adopted research paradigm is argued. Then, the associated research framework is outlined. After that, the research methodology is presented. Finally, the research methods are presented. An account of how the framework, methodology, and methods have been operationalized in the research papers is outlined in the respective sections.

6.1. RESEARCH PARADIGM

The worldview adopted in the PhD project is pragmatism due to the aim of creating and applying solutions that work to solve practical problems in the real world using a plurality of means [285]. The research paradigm applied in the PhD project is Design Science Research (DSR). DSR is a problem-solving paradigm at its heart [286,287]. Design is derived from *désignáre*, i.e., to point the way, with purposeful advancement, value orientation, and a focus on making it work [288]. Design science is rooted in engineering and aims to systematically solve ill-structured problems by the process of exploration through design [38,287,289,290]. It is suitable for OM research as it seeks to design a means to an end to solve practical problems, usually related to an undesired gap in performance [287,291]. DSR is selected as the research paradigm of the PhD project as it is a suitable means to diagnose and solve the practical ill-structured problems experienced by the industrial partner in their real-world context.

6.2. RESEARCH FRAMEWORK

The PhD project applies the DSR framework proposed by Hevner et al. [286,292], illustrated in Figure 7. It consists of three iterative cycles between three domains. The industrial environment is rooted in the context of the industrial partner wherein the problem space of interest to improve resides [38]. The knowledge base is rooted in the literature related to the research area of the PhD project, wherein deficits of interest to bridge reside. The research takes outset in the relevance and rigor cycles [286,287].



Figure 7: Design science research framework. Adapted from [286,292].

The relevance cycle is applied to define the practical problems and practical needs in the industrial environment by data collection and analysis, providing the requirements for creating and evaluating artifacts. The rigor cycle is applied to define the research deficits within the knowledge base and to draw inspiration for the research. The design cycle is applied to iteratively create and evaluate artifacts with functions that comply with the needs to solve the practical problems and bridge the research deficits using the drawn inspiration. The artifacts are validated in the industrial environment, and the generated knowledge is codified and contributed to the knowledge base. [292,293]

6.3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The PhD project applies the DSR methodology illustrated in Figure 8, proposed by Johannesson and Perjons [294]. The methodology is used to concretize the interrelated activities of the iterative research effort and provide systematicity and transparency [287,294]. The methodology is representative of the two DSR cycles related to papers C and G. The research of papers C and G are the main contributions to the two research questions, supported by the anteceding and fragmented research efforts of papers A, B, D, E, and F. The cycles, activities, and relations of the papers are listed below.

- A. Based on a relevance cycle and, to a lesser extent, a rigor and design cycle. Inspiration is drawn and instantiated to define problems and needs.
- B. Based on a relevance cycle and, to a lesser extent, a design and rigor cycle. Needs are defined, and inspiration is drawn to create an artifact. The artifact is validated in two cases and is compared to the inspiration.
- C. Based on a relevance, rigor, and design cycle. Needs, functions, and deficits are defined, and inspiration is drawn to create and evaluate an artifact. The artifact is validated in a case and is evaluated relative to the deficits.
- D. Based on a relevance cycle and, to a lesser extent, a design and rigor cycle. Needs, functions, and deficits are defined, and inspiration is drawn to create an artifact. The artifact is validated in a case.
- E. Based on a relevance cycle and design cycle, and to a lesser extent, a rigor cycle. Needs and functions are defined, and inspiration is drawn to create and evaluate an artifact by trial-and-error testing. The artifact is validated in a case study to define deficits and needs to be met in Paper G.
- F. Based on a rigor cycle and, to a lesser extent, a design and relevance cycle. Deficits are defined, and inspiration is drawn as inputs to paper G.
- G. Based on a relevance, rigor, and design cycle. Needs, functions, and deficits are defined, and inspiration is drawn to create and evaluate an artifact. The artifact is validated in a case and is evaluated relative to the deficits.

6.4. RESEARCH METHODS

The applied methods in the PhD project include literature review, case research, and quantitative modeling. The combination of methods strengthens the research [295].

6.4.1. LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review is essential to research. It supports discovering a research field's contributions, deficits, and propositions [296]. In turn, to guide, scope, inform, inspire, authorize, ground, and legitimize a research effort [187]. It is essential to ensure and prove the novelty of a theoretical contribution and the research rigor [297]. However, rigorousness rests on the trustworthiness [287]. Thus, internal validity and credibility are needed to mitigate errors, biases, and misinterpretations [298,299]. Moreover, reliability and consistency are needed to ensure reproducibility of the review process [187,188]. In essence, trustworthiness requires systematicity and transparency [300]. "A review article should not be projected as a "black box" that leads the reader to make assumptions about "what was done" and "how" it was realized" [301].

There are several types of literature reviews, and they can be combined [300–303]. The narrative review outlines contributions within a topic [301]. The critical review identifies deficits and directions for improvement by evaluating the weaknesses, contradictions, controversies, inconsistencies, problems, or discrepancies according to selected criteria and comparative analysis [301,304]. Reviews are usually selective to apriori knowledge, so they rarely comprehend all literature within a topic and are therefore vulnerable to subjectivity [301]. The risk of subjectivity can be mitigated, and trustworthiness can be increased by using protocols and procedures for searching, selecting, and evaluating contributions through systematicity and transparency [296].

Narrative and critical review combinations are applied in papers C and G. In contrast, a narrative review is applied in paper F. Protocols with search string and exclusion criteria are applied in papers C and F. In contrast, a protocol is delimited in paper G as it expands upon the review of paper F. Comparative analyses with evaluation criteria are applied in papers C and G to define deficits and improvements.



Figure 8: Design science research methodology. Adapted from [294].

6.4.2. CASE RESEARCH

During the Renaissance, scientists exclusively engaged in pragmatic research of the contemporary and specific contexts, with great rigor, due to apriori needs [305]. In contrast, the Scientific Revolution emphasized the formalization, generalization, and abstraction of knowledge to universal theory [306]. However, the OM field and the research area within have always been case-oriented to deal with practical problems as an engineering discipline [307]. Case research has mushroomed since the seminal article by Eisenhart [308]. Justifiably, the premises can be rejected for a renaissance of case research in the following direction [295].

"To the extent that contemporary and future scholars want to address contemporary organizational problems and establish credibility in the eyes of the managers of their times, focusing on the formal, the general, and the abstract can be antithetic... consequently potentially undermining situational groundedness" [295].

As indicated above, case research has a duality, seeking situational grounding through empirical contextualization and generalizability by theoretical transcendence [295].

A critical aspect is case selection [248]. A statistician would argue for a size-sufficient and randomized sample for findings to be generalizable [308]. In contrast, there is a practical limit to the number of cases that can be studied without compromising depth, resources, and time [248]. Therefore, some scholars emphasize the selection of cases that "possess specific traits that make them appropriate to address the research questions" [248]. Other scholars argue for a few cases with polar characteristics [309].

Another aspect is approach selection [295]. Qualitative approaches focus on meaning and interpretation, whereas quantitative approaches focus on amount, intensity, and frequency [248,295]. It refers to the research's design, orientation, analysis, and data [250,295,310]. The approaches can be combined as a mixed method, which is suitable for addressing complex and multi-faceted questions as it allows fast exploration and delimitation to a relevant area for thorough analysis or validation [250,310].

A third aspect is mode selection [295]. The suitable selection depends on the research objective and the contemporary specific context [295]. One can distinguish between three modes: theory generation, theory testing, and theory elaboration [295]. These modes are idealistic and pure archetypes, which are not present in research, although an orientation towards one or another is usually found [295].

Theory generation aims to bridge gaps in theory. It is the most common in research [295]. It relies on the induction of emerging theory from analyzing situationally grounded data with less abstraction [311]. With a vantage point in established theory, situational grounding and generalization can be increased through comparison [312].

Theory testing aims at validating hypotheses. It is less common in OM research [313]. It relies on the deduction of hypotheses or propositions from contextualized theory and the induction or abduction from analyzing situationally grounded data to draw empirical conclusions [295]. Grounding and generalization can be strengthened by several analyses within a company and by invoking general mechanisms [295].

Theory elaboration aims at expanding theory. It relies on the simultaneous iterative abduction of general theory and empirical data in a balanced manner to reconcile the domains [295,314]. In contrast to theory testing, propositions are not made a priori of empirical findings [295]. Serendipity is stressed [315]. It requires the researcher to remain "open to unanticipated findings and the possibility that the general theory requires considerable reformulation" [295].

The PhD project has mainly focused on a single case company due to the requirement for funding, which necessitated collaboration with an industrial partner, where the scope required a lengthy and resource-intensive study in a somewhat unique context. With few exceptions, the case research of the PhD project's papers all apply traits of all three modes, with different combinations and main orientations. The research of paper A is oriented towards inductive theory generation in a cross-case study with a mixed approach. The research of paper B is oriented towards abductive theory elaboration in a multiple-case study with a qualitative approach. The research of paper C is oriented towards abductive theory elaboration by several instances of analysis in a case study with a mixed approach. The research of paper D is oriented towards abductive theory elaboration in a case study using a qualitative approach. The research of papers E and G is oriented towards abductive theory elaboration by several instances of analysis in a case study with a quantitative approach.

6.4.3. QUANTITATIVE MODELING

A common aphorism is that "*All models are wrong, but some are useful*" [316,317]. Models are imperfect representations as the absolute "*truth ... is much too complicated to allow anything but approximations*" [318]. It is necessary that "*When you construct a model you leave out all the details which you, with the knowledge at your disposal, consider inessential*" [319]. A "*scientist must be alert to what is importantly wrong. It is inappropriate to be concerned about mice when there are tigers abroad*" [316]. Yet, anything less than exhaustiveness will incur some uncertainty and, thus, bounded rationality upon decision-makers relying on the results [38,320]. However, pursuing perfection is tremendously resource-intensive and will, no matter what, accompany flaws detrimental to the utility [320]. Herein lies the trade-offs where the art of the discipline is to capture the proper extent of complexity within a sufficient boundary [321]. "*Models should not be true, but it is important that they are applicable*" [319].

"The question you need to ask is not is the model true? (it never is) but is the model good enough for this particular application?" [322].

A quantitative model is an abstraction and approximation of a real problem situation to a set of variables and parameters with causal, quantitative interrelationships within a defined boundary [109]. Research in operations was initially based on quantitative modeling to solve real-life problems [109]. The discipline forked to generalized and context-specific models, aiming towards axiomatic or empirical models [109]. Since the 1960s, axiomatic models have been preferred, yet the tides turned at the dawn of the millennium [109]. The shift was due to a practical need for richer models that can be grabbed off the shelf with direct utility for specific problems in specific contexts [109]. A distinction is whether the model-based research is descriptive or prescriptive. The former can create an understanding of relationships [109]. The latter can predict the future state of a problem situation [109]. Nevertheless, model-based research can support decisions and actions to improve a situation [109].

Bertrand and Fransoo [109] state that empirical prescriptive quantitative modelingbased research relies on the execution of the phased cycle of the method for problemsolving from a systems view proposed by Mitroff et al. [320], illustrated in Figure 9. The first path, I-II, is to form a conceptual model of the problem situation, which defines the boundary of the variables in scope, the level at which they are treated, and their interrelationships by box-and-arrow representations [109,320]. The second path, II-III, is to form a scientific model in formal mathematical terms [320]. The third path, III-IV, is to derive one or multiple solution(s), if possible, using numerical, algebraic, optimization, or simulation techniques [109,320]. The fourth path, IV-I, is to feed the solution to the problem, and if decisions are made and corrective actions are taken, implementation has occurred [320]. The fourth path is rarely taken in research [109].



Figure 9: Quantitative modeling method. Adapted from [109,320].

Implementation is the challenging as preceding paths impose bounded rationality with risks on subsequent paths, and cooperation between actors with different skill sets is required [320]. The fifth path, I-III, is to validate the alignment, i.e., the extent of fit or gap, between the scientific model and the real problem situation [109].

Completing the pathed loop requires a broad range of skills. The conceptualization and implementation require holistic intuition and human relation skills. The modeling and model solving require formal analytic skills. The performance evaluation of the work is based on separate, distinct criteria. The conceptualization involves identifying relevant problems and is judged by the evaluands in their context. The modeling relies on mapping relevant variables and interrelations at suitable levels within a system. The model solving relies on deriving rigorous conclusions and is judged by scientific evaluators. The implementation relies on the impact within the context, judged by the evaluator responsible for managing the problem situation in the industrial context.

Validation relies on the continuous checking and perfection of the fit between the problem situation and the scientific model. Over-validation is a common research trap and a main risk, as indicated in the following quote. [320]

"This form of activity can readily degenerate into chronic insecurity, that of never being satisfied with any conceptualization or any model, and hence, of never getting around to the activities of Model Solving and Implementation. The search for the perfect conceptualization and perfect model can be classified as pathological forms of scientific activity" [320].

Empirical prescriptive quantitative modeling-based research is executed in the PhD project, mainly in the research of paper G, based on the anteceding research of paper E, where a parity extent is present in-between, secondarily in the research of Paper C.

6.5. RESEARCH STRUCTURE

The structure of the PhD project is illustrated in Figure 10. The structure is composed of research questions answered by research papers using research methods. Papers are divided into two parts. The first part contains the publication outlet and an alphabetical enumeration representing the recommended reading sequence. The second part lists the applied methods, which indicates the relevance and rigor, along with the type of knowledge contribution. The arrows represent the logical interconnection of papers. The solid arrows represent artifact relationships, i.e., artifact design outputs are inputs to artifact design, e.g., the model of paper E provides inspiration to and is improved by the modeling in paper G. The dotted arrows represent case relationships, i.e., case research outputs are inputs to case research, e.g., the system with potential from paper C is the object to embody with a reconfigurable design in paper D.



Figure 10: Structure of the PhD project.

CHAPTER 7. RESULTS

This chapter summarizes the PhD project's results, i.e., research papers. Each paper's title, aim, method, results, and implications are outlined in the following sections.

7.1. PAPER A

Title: Changeable Manufacturing: A Comparative Study of Requirements and Potentials in Two Industrial Cases

Aim

The research question is, "What are differences in requirements and potentials of changeable manufacturing in different manufacturing settings?" [156]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on the relations between changeability requirements, enablers, and potentials in different real-life industrial contexts [34,43,58,76,194].

Method

The research is based on a case study inspired by the method provided by Eisenhart [308]. Two cases with distinct contexts are selected for the study. The case companies are an LME in the capital goods industry and an SME in the sporting goods industry. The case protocol is inspired by the questionnaire provided by Andersen et al. [194]. The data is collected using a mixed methods approach. The within-in-case analyses are inspired by the method provided by Andersen et al. [194]. The method is applied to map the requirements, paradigms, and characteristics to identify gaps between the current and suitable situation. After that, the potential of the suitable embodiment of paradigms and enablers is derived. The cross-case analysis compares the case contexts with the requirements and potentials.

Results

The research results in multiple potentials that are similar or different in the cases, depending on the requirements and context. The similar potentials comprise improved reconfiguration time, capacity utilization, lifetime utilization, and capital expenses. Although similar embodiments enable the potentials, the requirements differ, i.e., a high change rate of product dimensions versus a high change rate of product materials. The difference relates to the industry order winners, i.e., product performance versus personalization. A different potential is the reduction of transportation costs and an increase in sales revenue. It is present in contexts where fluctuating demands of global markets are supplied with a variety of large products through competitive tendering schemes with local content requirements from a footprint of multiple factories with frequent time- and capital-intensive changes to production functionality and capacity.

Implications

The research contributes to:

- RQ1. Identify potentials of RMS in GPN contexts. Inspire the design of the method in paper C. Indicate the system to design by the study in paper D.
- RQ2. Inspire the design of the model in paper E. Indicate the system to be evaluated by the study in papers E and G.

The research contributes to theory with insights on similar and different requirements and potentials of changeability in two distinct industrial contexts, thereby bridging the stated research deficit [34,43,58,76,194]. Moreover, it supports to extend the seminal proposition of Koren [13] with the requirement to produce at the correct place and reconfigurability as an enabler to provide functionality where needed. The research contributes to practice with insights into suitable paradigms to accommodate contextspecific changeability requirements and potentials.

7.2. PAPER B

Title: Facilitating Manufacturing System Development: Mapping Changeability Capabilities in Two Industrial Cases

Aim

The research question is, "*What are the industrial insights from applying an adapted and practitioner-oriented version of the method proposed by Schou et al.*?" [157]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on a method to rapidly identify manufacturing processes' capabilities to accommodate product changes [34,183,204].

Method

The research is based on method design and case study. Inspiration is drawn from the method provided by Schou et al. [196] which supports to identify "*required changes in a manufacturing system, given a specific change within a product family/type*" [196]. However, it is resource-intensive for SMEs with budget and time constraints. Therefore, the method's scope is aimed towards the critical processes and products with changing characteristics for a manual ad-hoc impact evaluation using expert knowledge. The method is validated in multiple cases: an LME in the electronic goods industry and an SME in the sporting goods industry. In one case, the study is delimited to identify the current capabilities. In the other case, the study is expanded to evaluate the impact of product changes. Data is collected using a qualitative approach.

Results

The research results in an industry-applicable method to rapidly identify and evaluate manufacturing processes' changeability capabilities. It comprises five activities with a sequential and qualitative approach. It supports to identify new product requirements and current manufacturing capabilities to evaluate the impact of changes. It provides a process for the method's application, illustrations of matrices, and means of analysis. The descriptive study identifies the capabilities of twelve processes in one case. The

prescriptive study evaluates the time to changeover and reconfigure the capabilities of seven processes to accommodate changing characteristics in the second case.

Implications

The research contributes to RQ1 by inspiring the design of the method in paper C. The research contributes to theory with an extension of the method provided by Schou et al. [196] to rapidly identify changeability capabilities, thereby bridging the stated research deficit [34,183,204]. The research contributes to practice with an industry-oriented, easy-to-use method that relies on expert knowledge to gain immediate, relevant insights with low effort.

7.3. PAPER C

Title: Evaluation of reconfigurability potentials in a global production network

Aim

The research objective is "to create and apply a method to identify and evaluate the reconfigurability potentials of production systems in the context of a global production network" [158]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on a method to identify and evaluate RMS potentials in GPN contexts [34,43,58,73,76,183,204].

Method

The research is based on a systematic literature review, method design, and case study. The literature review is inspired by the methods provided by Pare et al. [300] and Hart [296]. Structured subject search and bi-directional snowballing are used to identify papers. Three exclusion phases are used to evaluate the papers' relevance. Methods are drawn from the relevant papers. Multiple criteria are used to classify and compare the methods according to their constituents. Research gaps are derived by evaluating the constituents according to extant literature. The method design draws inspiration from the review to bridge the identified research gaps. The method is validated in a case study. The case company is an LME in the capital goods industry. The study is initially delimited to the company's lead factories and then scaled to the GPN. Data is collected using the provided case protocol and a mixed methods approach.

Results

The research results in an industrial method to identify and evaluate manufacturing systems' changeability capabilities and reconfigurability potentials in GPN contexts. The method comprises four phases and ten activities with a sequential and mixedmethod approach. It supports identifying new requirements and current capabilities to evaluate the reusability of systems and, hereafter, evaluate the potential improvement of reconfigurability embodiment in investment-intensive systems on four parameters. It provides a process for the method's application, a protocol for the data collection, an illustration of activities and matrices, formulations of calculations, and means of analysis. The case study results in fifty-five non-reusable systems for NPIs across four segments, of which nineteen systems are investment-intensive. The potential of one system was evaluated to improve the capital expenses by 42 M \in , reconfiguration time by 58 weeks, operational expenses by 17 M \in , and production capacity by 174 units.

Implications

The research is a primary contribution to RQ1 with a validated method to identify and evaluate RMS potentials in GPN contexts. Moreover, it also contributes to:

- RQ1. Validate the potentials from the study in paper A.Improve the design of the method in paper B.Provide the system to design by the study in paper D.
- RQ2. Indicate the system to be evaluated by the study in papers E and G.

The research contributes to theory with a method to identify and evaluate RMS potentials in GPN contexts, thereby bridging the before mentioned research deficit [34,43,58,73,76,183,204]. Moreover, the method bridges several sub-deficits. First, the method includes fit-gap mapping of new requirements and system capabilities on the specification level [73,82,195,199,200]. Second, the method includes measures to quantify the potential of improved investment costs, operational costs, reconfiguration time, and production capacity [43,52,58,61,184]. Third, the method supports time and resource-efficient identification of an area for comprehensive evaluation [248–251]. The research contributes to practice with support to identify suitable systems, evaluate potentials, create business cases, justify investments, motivate financial decisions, and convince stakeholders to initiate new development projects of RMSs in GPN contexts.

7.4. PAPER D

Title: Brownfield Design of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Architectures: An Application of a Modified MFD to the Capital Goods Industry

Aim

The research question is, "*How can the modular function deployment be modified to support the design of reconfigurable architectures of brownfield manufacturing constituents with consideration of requirements and constraints throughout the value chain?*" [159]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on a method to design RMS concepts according to value chain requirements and constraints [34,43,61,74,204].

Method

The research is based on a method design and case study. The method design modifies the Modular Function Deployment (MFD) proposed by Ericsson and Erixon [323]. The design (i) delimits requirement definition and functional definition, (ii) retains functional decomposition and means selection, and (iii) extends the driver definition, means evaluation, module evaluation, concept sketching, and concept evaluation. The extensions fall into two classes: inclusion from extant literature or addition inspired by the case company. The method is validated in a case study. The case company is an LME in the capital goods industry. Data is collected using a qualitative approach.

Results

The research results in extensions of the MFD. It is extended by the inclusion of eleven module drivers of the value chain to evaluate means, two design structure matrices to evaluate change and interface constraints of modules and a cladistics analysis to sketch the design. The method is also extended by the addition of a module indication matrix to evaluate splits and patterns of modules, and a mapping analysis to evaluate value chain constraints of the design. The case result is a modular and platform-based RMS design congruent with change, interface, and value chain constraints.

Implications

The research contributes to:

- RQ1. Validate the potential from the study in papers A and C as a design.
- RQ2. Provide the design to evaluate by the study in papers E and G.

The research contributes to theory with the design and validation of MFD extensions to design RMS concepts in value chain contexts, thereby bridging the stated research deficit [34,43,61,74,204]. The included extensions are the value chain drivers, design structure matrix, and cladistic analysis. The added extensions are a module indication matrix and a value chain analysis. The research contributes to practice by supporting the design of RMS concepts with value chain consideration.

7.5. PAPER E

Title: Towards a model for evaluating the investment of reconfigurable and platform-based manufacturing concepts considering footprint adaptability

Aim

The research question is, "*How can a supportive model be constructed, which can be applied in initial phases of manufacturing system development for evaluating the investment of reconfigurable and platform-based design concepts considering footprint adaptability?*" [160]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on a model for the financial evaluation of RMS designs on the network level [60,192].

Method

The research is based on a model design and case study. The case company is an LME in the capital goods industry. The model design draws inspiration from the model provided by Asmussen et al. [254] to accommodate the requirements of the case. It is due to the utility of monolithic optimization models to handle the complex decisions and trade-offs across hierarchical levels present in actual cases. Data is collected using a mixed methods approach to validate the model.

Results

The research results in a quantitative model that uses optimization, specifically integer programming, to minimize the cost of a monolithic production plan. It comprises five indices, four decision variables, two calculated variables, three constraints, eight inputs, and five outputs for the objective function. It optimizes the investments, reconfigurations, production, inventory, and transportation across factories and sites of a production footprint. It supports the financial evaluation of RMS designs in the context of a production footprint. It provides tabularized descriptions of equations. The case input comprises context- and design-dependent data to evaluate multiple RMS designs relative to a baseline of a dedicated design across a horizon of fifty-two weeks. The case study results in average savings between 1-2%. The technical drivers of the improvement are indicated to be production capacity and transportation distance.

Implications

The research contributes to:

- RQ1. Validate the financial potentials from the study in papers A and C.
- RQ2. Evaluate the design of the system from the study in paper D. Inspire the review of literature in paper F. Inspire the design of the model in paper G.

The research contributes to theory with a model to evaluate the financial impact of real-life RMS designs in real-life contexts with a scope of manufacturing footprints, thereby bridging the stated research deficit [60,192]. Moreover, the model bridges several sub-deficits. First, the model includes variables for reconfiguration of systems by interchanging modules to evaluate RMS design architectures rather than a generic capability [76,89]. Second, the model includes the transportation of products from factories to sites to evaluate the potential of improved transportation costs [58,60]. The research contributes to practice with support to evaluate designs, create business cases, justify investments, motivate financial decisions, and convince stakeholders to advance ongoing development projects of RMSs in GPN contexts.

7.6. PAPER F

Title: Methods and Models to Evaluate the Investment of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: Literature Review and Research Directions

Aim

The research question is, "which methods and models are provided by state-of-the-art literature to evaluate the investment of reconfigurable manufacturing systems?" [161]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on the financial evaluation of RMS designs due to the practical criticality and complexity [36,73,90,243].

Method

The research is based on a literature review inspired by the method provided by Pare et al. [300] and Hart [296]. Structured subject search and bi-directional snowballing are used to identify papers. Three exclusion phases are used to evaluate the papers' relevance. Methods and models are drawn from the relevant papers. Multiple criteria are used to classify and compare the methods and models based on their constituents. Research deficits are derived by evaluation according to extant literature.

Results

The research results in a tabularized illustrated overview of three evaluation classes: qualitative methods, quantitative methods, and quantitative models. Four qualitative methods use an analytic hierarchy process on operational performance measures of RMSs with limited case validation and limited support for covering uncertainty. Four quantitative methods use index parameters on operational performance measures of several changeability classes of multiple objects, e.g., manufacturing systems, with case validation and minor support for covering uncertainty. Five quantitative models use optimization models on economic performance measures of several changeability classes of multiple objects with case validation and support for covering uncertainty by the application of scenarios.

Implications

The research contributes to:

- RQ1. Ground the design of the model in paper E.
- RQ2. Inspire the design of the model in paper G.

The research contributes to theory with a review of state-of-the-art literature on RMS evaluation, thereby bridging the stated research deficit [36,73,90,243]. Moreover, the review supports to derive a research deficit of quantitative models for comparative financial evaluation of RMS designs in production networks with uncertain lifetime requirements. The research contributes to practice with a decision tree to support the suitable selection of methods and models for the financial evaluation of RMSs.

7.7. PAPER G

Title: Enabling adaptability and resilience of a global production network: A model to evaluate capital and operational expenses of reconfigurable production systems

Aim

The research objective is "to construct and apply a model to evaluate the expected performance impact, with respect to capital and operational expenses of reconfigurable designs of production systems within a global production network" [162]. The aim is motivated by a lack of research on a model to evaluate the financial impact of RMS designs in GPN contexts [14,15,34,74,183,204,226].

Method

The research is based on a literature review, model design, method design, and case study. The literature review builds and expands upon the research presented in Section 7.6. Models are drawn from the identified papers. Multiple criteria are used to classify and compare the models according to their constituents. Research gaps are derived by evaluating the constituents according to extant literature. The model and method design draws inspiration from the review to bridge the identified research gaps. The model and method are validated in a case study. The case company is an LME in the capital goods industry. Data is collected using the provided case protocol and a mixed methods approach. A complete cycle of quantitative empirical modeling is executed, i.e., from reality to conceptual and scientific modeling to validation.

Results

The research results in a quantitative model that uses optimization, specifically integer programming, to minimize the costs of a monolithic production plan. It comprises six indices, six decision variables, thirteen calculated variables, thirteen constraints, twenty-one inputs, twenty-seven outputs where ten are part of the objective function, and two run parameters, resulting in eighty-eight constituents and fifty-five equations. It optimizes investments, reconfigurations, production, inventory, and transportation of systems, modules, and components across suppliers, factories, and sites of a GPN. It supports to evaluate the financial impact of RMS designs in the context of GPNs. It is supported by a method for collecting, analyzing, and applying data with heuristics, i.e., rolling horizon and scenarios to account for uncertainty. The research provides a conceptual model, a scientific model, matrices, a data protocol, and analysis means.

The case study results in average yearly savings of an RMS design, relative to a DMS design, by 5.4 m \in on operational expenses and 4.8 m \in on capital expenses through adaptability and resilience of the GPN. The technical and operational drivers of the financial improvement are discussed, along with the trade-offs in performance within and across scenarios. A polylemma of production, inventory, transportation, and investment costs was identified. The increased resilience of the GPN is demonstrated by the relative monetary savings in the pre-and post-pandemic scenarios, illustrated in Figure 11.

Implications

The research is a primary contribution to RQ2 with a validated method for financial evaluation of RMS designs' impact in GPN contexts. Moreover, it also contributes to:

- RQ1. Validate the financial potentials from the study in papers A and C.
- RQ2. Improve the design of the model in paper E.Evaluate the design of the system from the study in paper D.Bridge the research deficits from the review of literature in paper F.

The research contributes to theory with a model to evaluate the financial impact of RMS designs in GPN contexts, thereby bridging the before mentioned research deficit [14,15,34,204,226]. Moreover, the model bridges several sub-deficits. First, the model includes the scope of web-structures [14,229]. Second, the model includes variables for the production, inventory, and transportation of system modules [58,60,183,221]. Third, the model includes the systems' ramp-up and lifetime capacity and factories' spatial capacity [69,185,207,208,253,255].

The secondary theoretical contribution is the quantitative empirical case results, which address multiple research propositions. First, investigate the adaptability of GPNs as proposed by Lanza et al. [14]. Second, validate that RMSs can enable the adaptability of GPNs as proposed by Epureanu et al. [224]. Third, expand the theory of dyadic production strategies in GPNs as proposed by Lanza et al. [14]. Fourth, validate that RMSs can provide the capacity and functionality where needed, which elaborates on the proposition of Koren [13]. Sixth, validate that RMSs can enable the resilience of GPNs as proposed by Naimi et al. [226]. Seventh, validate enablers of resilience towards black swan disruptions as proposed by ElMaraghy et al. [15].

The research contributes to practice with support to evaluate designs, create business cases, justify investments, motivate financial decisions, and convince stakeholders to advance ongoing development projects of RMSs in GPNs. Moreover, it supports to evaluate hypotheses, assumptions, and scenarios. Finally, it supports the creation and optimization of production plans for strategic and tactical decision-making.



CHAPTER 8. DISCUSSION

This chapter presents a discussion of the theoretical contributions and the industrial implications of the PhD project. First, the theoretical contributions are evaluated by applying design science research frameworks. Then, the industrial implications are evaluated regarding the impact within the development at the industrial partner. Finally, the internal and external validity of the research is discussed.

8.1. THEORETICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Design Science Research is applied in the PhD project to develop a means to an end, i.e., artifacts to solve problems [287]. A sufficient theoretical contribution necessitates that the means or the end must be novel [287]. Thus, the critical and central activity of evaluation, using suitable frameworks, is needed to ensure the rigor of the research and the novelty of the contributions [286,325]. Therefore, this section presents an evaluation of the contributions of the PhD project using multiple DSR frameworks.

Artifacts, i.e., design science products, are prescriptive knowledge [326]. They can be classified into four types: constructs, methods, models, and instantiations [326,327]. In brief, constructs are concepts, models are representations, methods are instructions, and instantiations are realizations [329]. Details are provided in the following quotes:

"*Constructs* or concepts form the vocabulary of a domain. They constitute a conceptualization used to describe problems within the domain and to specify their solutions" [326].

"*A model* is a set of propositions or statements expressing relationships among constructs. In design activities, models represent situations as problem and solution statements" [326].

"*A method* is a set of steps (an algorithm or guideline) used to perform a task. Methods are based on a set of underlying constructs (language) and a representation (model) of the solution space" [326].

"*An instantiation* is the realization of an artifact in its environment... Instantiations demonstrate the feasibility and effectiveness of the models and methods they contain" [326].

To varying extents, each type can contribute to research, depending on their novelty [327]. Methods correspond to the principles of function and models correspond to the principles of form. Models are usually conceptual or mathematical representations of a system of constructs and interrelationship [328]. The artifact can be instantiated by operationalization in their intended environment, e.g., by case research [286,327]. The prescriptive knowledge contributions of the papers are outlined in the following list.

- A. Identification of changeability requirements, enablers, and potentials.
 - Instantiation of a pre-existing method in two industrial cases.
- B. Identification of changeability requirements and capabilities.
 - Method with five activities and three analysis techniques.
 - Instantiation of the method in two industrial cases.
- C. Identification and evaluation of RMS potentials in GPN contexts.
 - Method with four phases, ten activities, and twenty questions.
 - Diagrammatical model with four entities to represent the problem.
 - Mathematical model with 23 notations and 7 equations to calculate quantities, investments, and potentials of manufacturing systems.
 - Tabularized model with seven notations to specify requirements.
 - Tabularized model with ten notations to specify capabilities.
 - Diagrammatical models with two axes to analyze investments.
 - Constructs of bound flexibility and retrofit reconfigurability.
 - Instantiation of the above-mentioned artifacts in an industrial case.
- D. Conceptual design of RMS concepts in GPN contexts.
 - A method with eleven activities and seven(teen) supportive means.
 - Three diagrammatical models for function-means mapping, system architecture mapping, and commonality-variety mapping.
 - Three tabularized models to evaluate potential system modules.
 - Constructs, i.e., module split drivers, module value chain coupling points, and extension modules.
 - Instantiation in an industrial case.
 - Instantiation of the above-mentioned artifacts in an industrial case.
- E. Financial evaluation of RMS concepts in GPN contexts.
 - A descriptive model with twenty notations and four equations.
 - Constructs of functionality bottlenecks and footprint adaptability.
 - Instantiation of the above-mentioned artifacts in an industrial case.
- F. Review of methods and models for evaluation of RMS.
 - A diagrammatical model for the selection of a suitable approach.
- G. Financial evaluation of RMS designs in GPN contexts.
 - Diagrammatical model with six entities to represent the context.
 - Diagrammatical model with 14 entities to represent the problem.
 - Diagrammatical model with 43 notations and 45 interrelations to represent the architecture of parameters, variables, and objectives.
 - Mathematical model with 88 notations and 55 equations, to create and solve an optimization model of the problem.
 - Method with six activities to collect and analyze data.
 - Diagrammatical to create bounded-rationality in the evaluation.
 - Constructs, i.e., triadic cross-domain GPN web structures, low-cost close-to-market production strategy, and polylemma of investment, production, inventory, and transportation costs.
 - Instantiation of the above-mentioned artifacts in an industrial case.

Gregor and Hevner [327] provide a framework to evaluate knowledge contributions in DSR. The framework consists of two dimensions: solution maturity and problem maturity, from high to low, resulting in a two-by-two matrix with four quadrants:

- I. Routine design, i.e., known solutions for known problems.
- II. Exaptation design, i.e., known solutions for new problems.
- III. Improvement design, i.e., new solutions for known problems.
- IV. Invention design, i.e., new solutions for new problems.

The framework can be applied to evaluate the four types of prescriptive knowledge contributions: discretely or collectively as a coherent body. The body can be expanded with the descriptive knowledge gained by applying the artifacts in real-world contexts. A greater extent of knowledge can be contributed by the body and the expansion [327]. However, the evaluation can be tricky, as indicated in the following quote.

"A fundamental issue is that nothing is really "new." Everything is made out of something else or builds on some previous idea. When is something really novel or a significant advance on prior work?" [327].

The coherent body of prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contributions of papers are evaluated qualitatively according to the dimensions and quadrants as proposed by Gregor and Hevner [327]. It is based on a comparison of the contributions to those in state-of-the-art which is presented in the papers. The position of the contributions and the extent of their novelty can be argued and an emphasis was placed on their relative position. The evaluation is illustrated in Figure 12 and is argued in the following list.



Figure 12: Evaluation of the knowledge contributions. Adapted from [327].

- A. The position as routine moving towards exaptation design is reasoned as a known method is applied for a known problem in an under-explored domain where the descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Bortolini et al. [34] and Andersen et al. [58,194].
- B. The position as routine moving towards improvement design is reasoned as a known method is modified and applied, with known constructs, for a known problem in an under-explored domain where the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Singh Et al. [183] and Khanna et al. [204].
- C. The position as an intermediate between improvement and invention design is reasoned as a new method is created and applied, with new and known constructs, for an under-explored problem in an under-explored domain where the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Bortolini Et al. [34], Koren et al. [43,52], Francalanza et al. [73], and Russo et al. [76].
- D. The position as an intermediate between the design quadrants is reasoned as a known method is modified and applied, with new and known constructs, for a known problem in an under-explored domain where the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Koren et al. [43] and Najid et al. [74].
- E. The position as an intermediate between exaptation and innovation design is reasoned as a new model is created and applied, with new and known constructs, for an under-explored problem in an under-explored domain where the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Andersen et al. [192] and Christensen et al. [60].
- F. The position as routine design is reasoned as a known method for a known problem is modified for an under-explored domain where the prescriptive contribution bridges the research deficit stated by Benkamoun [243].
- G. The position as slight invention design is reasoned as a new model is created and applied, with new and known constructs, for an under-explored problem in an unexplored domain where the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contribution bridges the research deficits stated by Lanza et al. [14,275], ElMaraghy et al. [15], Epureanu et al. [224], and Naimi et al. [226].

One can distinguish between several maturity and abstraction levels of contributions, ranging from the well-developed grand and mid-range theories to the nascent theories of situated artifacts [288,327]. The PhD project's contributions are bound to be nascent theories as "*empirical examination of solution designs in multiple contexts turns the solution design into mid-range theory of practice*" [287]. The counterargument of a slight advancement through the boundary is that "*the aim of mid-range theories is to develop a deeper understanding of a theory in a specific context of application*" [287].

Venable et al. [325] provide a framework to evaluate artifacts in DSR. It consists of four criteria: evaluand, timing, purpose, and paradigm which consider what, when, why, and how to evaluate [325]. The evaluand is the artifact to evaluate [329]. The timing can be ex-ante, intermediate, or ex-post the design [330]. The purpose can be formative to improve an evaluand or summative to select an evaluand for application [331]. The paradigm can be artificial within controlled abstractions or naturalistic in complex realities [332]. The criteria determine the evaluation strategy which can be quick and simple, human effectiveness, technical efficacy, or purely technical [325].

The artifacts of the PhD project are evaluated in Table 2 according to the framework proposed by Venable et al. [325]. The evaluands can be regarded as the designed evaluation artifacts or the evaluands the evaluation artifacts evaluate. The evaluation of both classes is labeled as class I or II and is outlined in the following paragraphs. The artifacts are evaluated in groups, determined by distinctiveness and precedence.

The artifact of paper A \rightarrow C has the aim to evaluate potentials in the real environment by field studies and identify manufacturing systems suitable for reconfigurable design. The artifact of paper D has the aim to design and evaluate a technical reconfigurable concept in an abstract environment by criteria-based analysis. The artifact of paper E \rightarrow G has the aim to test and prove if and which designs provide hypothesized benefits and the highest extent, in a controlled environment to decide on the implementation. The artifact of paper D was subject for summative ex-post evaluation by industrial stakeholders. The artifacts of papers A \rightarrow C and E \rightarrow G were subject for formative intermediate ex-post naturalistic evaluation in iterative succession in collaboration with the stakeholders. The artifacts were evaluated qualitatively by the subjective opinions of relevant stakeholders on measures of functionality, reliability, usability, and efficiency. Details on the industrial evaluation are provided in Section 8.2.

Contributions		$A \rightarrow C$	D	$E \rightarrow G$
Class II	Evaluand	Potentials	Concept	Designs
	Timing	Ex-ante	Intermediate	Ex-post
	Purpose	Summative	Formative	Summative
	Paradigm	Naturalistic	Artificial	Artificial
	Strategy	Quick and simple	Technical	Technical efficacy
Class I	Evaluand	Method	Method	Model
	Timing	Intermediate	Ex-post	Intermediate
	Purpose	Formative	Summative	Formative
	Paradigm	Naturalistic	Naturalistic	Naturalistic
	Strategy	Effectiveness	Effectiveness	Effectiveness

Table 2: Evaluation of prescriptive knowledge contributions.

8.2. INDUSTRIAL IMPLICATIONS

The prescriptive knowledge contributions of the research were applied throughout the industrial partner's internal development project that ran parallel to the PhD project. The position of the contributions within stage-gate development is illustrated in Figure 13, and the impact is outlined in the following list.

- A. The contribution related to paper A made a direct impact by supporting the requirement specification in the first stage and the evaluation of the suitable manufacturing system paradigm for conceptual design at the first gate.
- B. The contributions related to paper B made an indirect impact by inspiring the design of the contribution related to paper C.
- C. The contribution related to paper C made a direct impact by supporting the identification and evaluation of manufacturing systems for reconfigurability embodiment during conceptual design in the first stage and at the first gate.
- D. The contribution related to paper D made a direct impact by supporting the concept design of a reconfigurable manufacturing system in the second stage.
- E. The contribution related to paper E made a direct impact by supporting the evaluation of a conceptual design for detailed design at the second gate.
- F. The contribution related to paper F made an indirect impact by inspiring the design of the contribution related to paper G.
- G. The contribution related to Paper G made a direct impact by supporting the evaluation of a detailed design for implementation at the third gate.

The quantitative model and results related to paper G, was presented to, and discussed with the stakeholders of the steering committee in the development project at Vestas. Together with the chief specialist within blade manufacturing concepts, it was decided to execute one last cycle of quantitative modeling. The model was redesigned with functionality to new requirements, populated with data from various domain experts, and instantiated to evaluate a complete relative to a partial design of reconfigurable blade molds. The results, i.e., relative monetary savings, are illustrated in Figure 14.



Figure 13: Contributions in stage-gate development. Adapted from [71].

The industrial evaluation, of the quantitative model and the results, is reflected by the final judgment of the problem situation manager, as outlined in the following quote.

"Det er en af de mest gennemarbejdede business cases jeg har set i mine femogtyve år hos Vestas... modelberegningerne passer sådan nogenlunde overens med den virkelighed jeg ser ind i. I hvert fald til et niveau der er godt nok... Vigtige beslutninger bliver taget på baggrund af dit arbejde". [It is one of the most thorough business cases I have seen in my twentyfive years at Vestas... The model calculations fit somewhat with the reality I see. At least to a level that is good enough. Important decisions are being made on the basis of your work]. – Chief Specialist, November 2022.

The quoted important decisions that were made resulted in the following actions:

- I. An action to seek patent protection for aspects of the *reconfigurable wind turbine blade moulds* [333,334]. An extract of a figure included in the cited patent applications is illustrated in Figure 15. The figure illustrates a design aspect of a modularized architecture of blade shell moulds.
- II. An action to decommission V163 blade shell moulds with the partial design, i.e., standardized root and tip sections and customized mid-sections in 2023. It enables 75% reusability of the geometry-dependent structure of the mother shell moulds for configurations to new introductions within the same family.
- III. An action to embody a blade mould with the complete design in collaboration with a strategic vendor in 2023 with the aim of technical validation.
- IV. An action to allocate resources to a scoping project to identify and evaluate additional manufacturing systems suitable for reconfigurability embodiment across all component segments throughout the value chain.



Figure 14: Savings of complete relative to partial RMS design.

Action IV prompted the design of the method and the case results related to paper C. A hundred system were screened across the factories in Lem, Ringkøbing, Nakskov, Lindø, and Hammel. The blade web moulds and jigs were evaluated as the systems with the highest potential as their geometry-dependency renders reusability for NPIs infeasible and as their cost and quantity renders high investment intensity. Recently, a scope of the value chain was proposed with the aim to screen for suitable systems used in storage, transportation, and installation. A prospect could be the blade fixtures that are used in the transportation which have historically been utilized less than two times and costs a couple of hundred thousand euros for the V236. The impact is thus, a set of systems for future development projects and a method for further screening.

During the development of the reconfigurable blade mold, a need to demonstrate the design and support the implementation emerged. To accommodate the need, a virtual factory simulation was designed and validated. A workshop was held with 23 experts. They were inquired through a questionnaire on the utility of the demonstrator on seven parameters using a five-point Likert scale. The parameters and their average score are: demonstrate the design to internal or external stakeholders (4.9), identify and mitigate collision risks between resources (4.6), train employees in reconfiguration tasks (4.6), specify and schedule reconfiguration tasks (4.2), allocate and balance resources to reconfiguration tasks (4.2), measure and optimize operational performance indicators (4.2); and measure and validate technical performance indicators (4.2).



Figure 15: Reconfigurable blade shell molds. Retrieved from [333,334].
8.3. RESEARCH VALIDITY

This section discusses the internal and external validity of the research.

The empirical prescriptive quantitative modeling-based research related to the artifact produced throughout papers $E \rightarrow G$ went through the complete loop. However, the process was far from linear and highly iterative. The actual process through the paths can be represented as $I \rightarrow II \rightarrow IV \rightarrow I \rightarrow II \rightarrow III \rightarrow III \rightarrow II \rightarrow III \rightarrow II \rightarrow II \rightarrow III \rightarrow II \rightarrow$

Scholars within the research area of axiomatic modeling may judge a deficit of proper validation I-III. Although quantification of the fit between the model and the reality should have been more transparent, the pragmatic approach is deemed sufficient, as the implementation would otherwise be infeasible. Nevertheless, internal quantitative testing and comparison of the model results and the real problem situation data were executed. The quantitative parity validation was only possible for the DMS design by comparing with the historical demand and performance. Parity validation of the RMS design with forecast scenarios relied on internal and industrial qualitative evaluation. Only time will tell if the RMS design performs as expected, requiring a longitudinal study after its operationalization. However, when the experts already trust the results to fit somewhat with reality, to the extent that they will confidently base decisions and actions upon it, the model must be a good enough representation of reality.

The PhD project focused on situational groundedness by empirical contextualization to a greater extent than formalized generalizability by theoretical transcendence. Despite an inverse relationship, efforts have been made to strengthen generalizability. Descriptive and prescriptive knowledge contributions were produced using multiple instances of analysis in one or two case companies using general or context-specific mechanisms, and the results were compared to vantage points in established theory.

The contributions' position along the continuum is illustrated in Figure 16. Overall, the contributions or parts hereof have potential for generalized application in the wind turbine, maritime, aeronautic, and automotive industries. Primarily suitable in GPN contexts with a wide variety of sizeable and cost-intensive manufacturing systems.



Figure 16: Generalizability and groundedness of the research contributions.

CHAPTER 9. CONCLUSION

The PhD project's research objective was *to design and validate methods and models for the financial evaluation of reconfigurable manufacturing systems in the context of global production networks* to solve industrial problems and bridge research deficits. Design science research, literature reviews, case research, and quantitative modeling were applied to create and validate novel artifacts as the prescriptive and descriptive knowledge contributions to achieve the research objective. The relevance is ensured by artifact validation at Vestas. The rigor is ensured by artifact grounding within stateof-the-art literature to bridge the research deficits. The following sections summarize the contributions and implications of the project related to the two research questions and propose directions for future research.

9.1. RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS

The first research question was *how can the potential of reconfigurable manufacturing systems be identified and evaluated in the context of global production networks?* The contributions of paper A are general RMS potentials of improved investment costs, lifetime utilization, reconfiguration time, capacity utilization, and context-specific RMS potentials of adaptability for a competitive advantage. The contribution of Paper B is a method to identify and evaluate changeability capabilities. The contribution of paper C is a method to identify and evaluate manufacturing systems suitable for the embodiment of reconfigurability to comply with NPIs in GPNs based on the potential to improve investment costs, operational costs, reconfiguration time, and production capacity. The contribution of paper D is a method to design RMS concepts in GPNs according to the requirements and constraints of the value chain.

The second research question was *how can the financial impact of reconfigurable manufacturing system designs be evaluated in the context of global production networks*? The contribution of paper E is a model to evaluate the financial impact of RMS designs in GPNs. The contribution of paper F is a classification of methods and models for financial RMS evaluation. The main contribution of paper G is a model to evaluate the financial impact of RMS designs in GPN contexts with a three-tiered web structure using rolling- and scenario-based optimization of the production, inventory, and transportation of units where the ramp-up, lifetime, and modular interchange of systems is considered. The second contribution of paper G is an industrial validation of RMSs as an enabler of adaptability and resilience of GPNs to demand fluctuations and black-swan disruptions.

9.2. INDUSTRIAL IMPLICATIONS

The methods and models supported the development of reconfigurable wind turbine blade molds at Vestas. Methods A and C supported the identification and evaluation

of a suitable paradigm and system for concept design. Method D supported the design of concepts. Models E and G supported the evaluation of concepts for detailed design and the evaluation of designs for implementation. The design has a modular- and platform-based architecture with convertibility across different blade geometries and dimensions within families. Model G supported the decisions and actions to patent the design, commission the partial design in the current operations, and commission the complete design in the future operations. Method C supported the identification and evaluation of suitable systems for new development projects, e.g., blade web molds and jigs, and the decision to expand the scope to the value chain, e.g., blade fixtures.

The PhD project focused on situational groundedness by empirical contextualization to a greater extent than formalized generalizability by theoretical transcendence. Despite an inverse relationship, efforts have been made to strengthen generalizability. Descriptive and prescriptive knowledge contributions were produced using multiple instances of analysis in one or two case companies using general or context-specific mechanisms, and the results were compared to vantage points in established theory. The contributions or parts hereof have the potential for generalized application in the wind turbine, maritime, aeronautic, and automotive industries. The contributions are primarily suitable to be applicable in contexts with a global production network and a wide variety of sizeable and cost-intensive manufacturing systems.

9.3. FUTURE RESEARCH

A proposition for future research is to expand the evaluation model of paper G with parameters of transport emissions, material use, delivery lateness, and penalty costs.

Sustainability in manufacturing is relevant as it accounts for about a fifth of the global emissions [183,336]. The results indicate that RMSs can facilitate production near the demand and reduce transportation costs [162]. Arguably, transportation distance and emissions can also be reduced [172]. Moreover, the results indicate that RMSs can facilitate increased reusability and lifetime utilization [162]. Arguably, the material use can also be reduced [337]. However, there is a research deficit in sustainability evaluation using quantitative empirical modeling [34,338].

During field research in December 2022 at the pre-assembly site on Rønne harbor, there was a challenge with blade supply for installing 27 V174 at Arcadis Ost 1 in the Baltic Sea northeast of Rügen. The supply was designated from the Isle of Wright, which had recently installed a V174 mold for blades with a cycle time of about a week. Productivity issues resulted in delivery lateness, which resulted in heavy penalty costs. A retrospective analysis revealed that if the reconfigurable design had been applied for the offshore family, the production capacity could have been pooled from a V164 blade mold to increase productivity and mitigate delivery lateness and penalty costs.

REFERENCES

- [1] Crowther S, Ford H. *My Life and Work*. New York: Doubleday, Doran & Company; 1922.
- [2] Clymer F. *Henry's wonderful Model T 1908-1927*. New York: Bonanza Books, Crown Publishers, McGraw-Hill; 1955.
- [3] Hounshell D. From the American System to Mass Production, 1800-1932: The Development of Manufacturing Technology in the United States. Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press; 1984.
- [4] Filene EA. Mass Production Makes a Better World. *The Atlantic 143*. 1929;625–31.
- [5] At the Wheel: Mass Production and Individuality. *The New York Times*. 1929;16.
- [6] Skinner W. Manufacturing Missing Link in Corporate Strategy. *Harvard Business Review*. 1969;May:136–45.
- [7] Skinner W. The Focused Factory. *Harvard Business Review*. 1974;May:113–21.
- [8] Skinner W. Manufacturing in the Corporate Strategy. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1978.
- [9] Skinner W. *Manufacturing The Formiddable Competetive Weapon*. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1985.
- [10] Hayes RH, Wheelwright SC. *Restoring our Competetive Edge: Competing Through Manufacturing*. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1984.
- [11] Hayes RH, Wheelwright SC, Clark KB. Dynamic Manufacturing: Creating the Learning Organization. New York: The Free Press, Simon and Schuster; 1988.
- [12] Drazin R, Van de Ven AH. Alternative Forms of Fit in Contingency Theory. *Administrative Science Quarterly*. 1985;30(4):514–39. DOI: 10.2307/2392695
- [13] Koren Y. The Global Manufacturing Revolution: Product-Process-Business Integration and Reconfigurable Systems. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons; 2010. DOI: 10.1002/9780470618813

- [14] Lanza G, Ferdows K, Kara S, Mourtzis D, Schuh G, Váncza J, et al. Global production networks: Design and operation. *CIRP Annals*. 2019;68(2):823– 41. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2019.05.008
- [15] ElMaraghy H, Monostori L, Schuh G, ElMaraghy W. Evolution and future of manufacturing systems. *CIRP Annals*. 2021;70(2):635–58. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2021.05.008
- [16] ElMaraghy H, Schuh G, ElMaraghy W, Piller F, Schönsleben P, Tseng M, et al. Product variety management. *CIRP Annals*. 2013;62(2):629–52. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2013.05.007
- [17] ElMaraghy H, Wiendahl H-P. Changeability An Introduction. In: ElMaraghy HA, editor. *Changeable and Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems*. Springer, London; 2009. p. 3–24. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-84882-067-8_1
- [18] Wiendahl H-P, ElMaraghy HA, Nyhuis P, Zäh MF, Wiendahl HH, Duffie N, et al. Changeable Manufacturing - Classification, Design and Operation. *CIRP Annals*. 2007;56(2):783–809. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2007.10.003
- [19] Koren Y. General RMS Characteristics. Comparison with Dedicated and Flexible Systems. In: Dashchenko AI, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems and Transformable Factories*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2006. p. 27–45. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-29397-3_3
- [20] Davis SM. From "future perfect": Mass customizing. *Planning Review*. 1989;17(2):16–21. DOI: 10.1108/eb054249
- [21] Koren Y, Heisel U, Jovane F, Moriwaki T, Pritschow G, Ulsoy G, et al. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems. *CIRP Annals*. 1999;48(2):527–40. DOI: 10.1016/S0007-8506(07)63232-6
- [22] Michaelis MT, Johannesson H. From Dedicated to Platform-Based Co-Development of Products and Manufacturing Systems. In: ElMaraghy HA, editor. *Enabling Manufacturing Competitiveness and Economic Sustainability*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 196–202. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-23860-4_32
- [23] Schilling MA. Toward a General Modular Systems Theory and Its Application to Interfirm Product Modularity. *The Academy of Management Review*. 2000;25(2):312–34. DOI: 10.2307/259016
- [24] Garud R, Kumaraswamy A. Technological and organizational designs for

realizing economies of substitution. *Strategic Management Journal*. 1995;16(S1):93–109. DOI: 10.1002/smj.4250160919

- [25] Starr MK. Modular Production A New Concept. *Harvard Business Review*. 1965;43(6):131–42.
- [26] Langlois RN, Robertson PL. Networks and innovation in a modular system: Lessons from the microcomputer and stereo component industries. *Research Policy*. 1992;21(4):297–313. DOI: 10.1016/0048-7333(92)90030-8
- [27] Baldwin CY, Clark KB. Design Rules: The Power of Modularity. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press; 2000. DOI: 10.7551/mitpress/2366.001.0001
- [28] Langlois RN. Modularity in technology and organization. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization. 2002;49(1):19–37. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-2681(02)00056-2
- [29] Pimmler TU, Eppinger SD. Integration Analysis of Product Decompositions. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Design Theory and Methodology. Minneapolis, Minnesota: The American Soceity of Mechanical Engineers; 1994. p. 343–51. DOI: 10.1115/DETC1994-0034
- [30] Baldwin CY, Clark KB. Managing in an age of modularity. *Harvard Business Review*. 1997;75(5):84–93.
- [31] Meyer M, Lehnerd A. *The Power of Product Platforms*. New York: The Free Press, Simon and Schuster; 1997.
- [32] Waltl H, Wildeman H. Der Modulare Produktionsbaukasten Teil 2. *Productivity Management*. 2014;19(5):10–2.
- [33] Tücks G, Stoffel M. Die Kraft von Produktionsarchitekturen. *Complexity Management Journal*. 2015;3:4–7.
- [34] Bortolini M, Galizia FG, Mora C. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems: Literature review and research trend. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2018;49:93–106. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2018.09.005
- [35] Hutchinson M, Zhao F. Global Wind Report. Brussels; 2023.
- [36] Bellgran M, Säfsten K. Production Development: Design and Operation of Production Systems. Production Development. Springer, London; 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-84882-495-9

- [37] Bennett DJ, Forrester PL. *Market-focused Production Systems: Design and Implementation*. Hemel Hempstead: Prentice Hall; 1993.
- [38] Simon HA. The Architecture of Complexity. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*. 1962;106(6):467–82.
- [39] Kim DH. *Introduction to Systems Thinking*. Waltham, Massachusetts: Pegasus Communications; 1999.
- [40] Arbnor I, Bjerke B. *Företagsekonomisk metodlära*. Lund: Studenterlitteratur; 2008.
- [41] Taylor FW. *The Principles of Scientific Management*. New York: Harper & Brothers; 1911.
- [42] Koren Y, Shpitalni M. Design of reconfigurable manufacturing systems. Journal of Manufacturing Systems. 2010;29(4):130–41. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2011.01.001
- [43] Koren Y, Gu X, Guo W. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems: Principles, design, and future trends. *Frontiers of Mechanical Engineering*. 2018;13(2):121–36. DOI: 10.1007/s11465-018-0483-0
- [44] Zhang G, Liu R, Gong L, Huang Q. An Analytical Comparison on Cost and Performance among DMS, AMS, FMS and RMS. In: Dashchenko AI, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems and Transformable Factories*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2006. p. 659–73. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-29397-3_33
- [45] Pine II JB. *Mass Customization: The New Frontier in Business Competetion*. Boston, Massachusetts: Harvard Business School Press; 1993.
- [46] van Hoek RI, Peelen E, Commandeur HR. Achieving Mass Customization Through Postponement: A Study of International Changes. *Journal of Market-Focused Management*. 1999;3(3):353–68. DOI: 10.1023/A:1009827812231
- [47] Teece DJ, Pisano G, Shuen A. Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*. 1997;18(7):509–33. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199708)18:7<509::AID-SMJ882>3.0.CO;2-Z
- [48] Ulrich K, Tung K. Fundamentals of Product Modularity. In: proceedings of ASME Winter Annual Meeting Symposium on Design and Manufacturing Integration. Atlanta, Georgia; 1991. p. 73–9.

- [49] Ulrich K. The role of product architecture in the manufacturing firm. *Research Policy*. 1995;24(3):419–40. DOI: 10.1016/0048-7333(94)00775-3
- [50] ElMaraghy H, Abbas M. Products-manufacturing systems Co-platforming. *CIRP Annals*. 2015;64(1):407–10. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2015.04.110
- [51] Wiendahl H-P, Heger CL. Justifying Changeability. A Methodical Approach to Achieving Cost Effectiveness. *Journal for Manufacturing Science and Production*. 2004;6(1–2):33–40. DOI: 10.1515/IJMSP.2004.6.1-2.33
- [52] Koren Y, Wang W, Gu X. Value creation through design for scalability of reconfigurable manufacturing systems. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2017;55(5):1227–42. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2016.1145821
- [53] Wiendahl H-P, Hernández R. The Transformable Factory Strategies, Methods and Examples. In: Dashchenko AI, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems and Transformable Factories*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2006. p. 383–93. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-29397-3_20
- [54] Westkämper E. Digital Manufacturing In The Global Era. In: Cunha PF, Maropoulos PG, editors. *Digital Enterprise Technology*. Springer, Boston, Massachusetts; 2007. p. 3–14. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-49864-5 1
- [55] Nyhuis P, Kolakowski M, Heger CL. Evaluation of Factory Transformability. In: Zäh MF, editor. *Proceedings of the 3rd International CIRP Conference on Reconfigurable Manufacturing*. Ann Arbor, Michigan; 2005.
- [56] Wiendahl H-P. Wandlungsfähigkeit: Schlüsselbegriff der zukunftsfähigen Fabrik. wt Werkstattstechnik online. 2002;92(4):122–7. DOI: 10.37544/1436-4980-2002-4-122
- [57] Rode J, Sant K. UPS Fremgangsmåden. København: Instituttet for Produktudvikling; 1983.
- [58] Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Christensen B, Bejlegaard M, Sorensen DGH, Nielsen K. Tailored Reconfigurability: A Comparative Study of Eight Industrial Cases with Reconfigurability as a Key to Manufacturing Competitiveness. In: Benyoucef L, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: From Design to Implementation. Springer Series in Advanced Manufacturing*. Springer, Cham; 2020. p. 209–45. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-28782-5_11
- [59] Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. Reconfigurable Manufacturing on Multiple Levels: Literature Review and Research Directions. In: Umeda S,

Nakano M, Mizuyama H, Hibino N, Kiritsis D, von Cieminski G, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems: Innovative Production Management Towards Sustainable Growth. APMS 2015. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 459. Springer, Cham; 2015. p. 266–73. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-22756-6_33

- [60] Christensen B, Andersen A-L, Medini K, Brunoe TD. Reconfigurable Manufacturing: A Case-Study of Reconfigurability Potentials in the Manufacturing of Capital Goods. In: Ameri F, Stecke KE, von Cieminski G, Kiritsis D, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. Production Management for the Factory of the Future. APMS 2019. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 566. Springer, Cham; 2019. p. 366–74. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-30000-5_46
- [61] Bejlegaard M, ElMaraghy W, Brunoe TD, Andersen A-L, Nielsen K. Methodology for reconfigurable fixture architecture design. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*. 2018;23:172–86. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2018.05.001
- [62] Bruch J. Management of Design Information in the Production System Design Process. Mälardalen University; 2012.
- [63] Ruffini FAJ. *Production System Design: From Practice to Theory*. University of Twente, Enschede; 1999.
- [64] Rösiö C. Supporting the design of reconfigurable production systems. Mälardalen University; 2012.
- [65] Andersen A-L. Development of Changeable and Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: Supporting Context-specific Design of Changeability. Aalborg University; 2017.
- [66] Bennet D. Production System Design. London: Butterworth & Co, Ltd; 1986.
- [67] Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K, Rösiö C. Towards a generic design method for reconfigurable manufacturing systems Analysis and synthesis of current design methods and evaluation of supportive tools. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2017;42:179–95. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2016.11.006
- [68] Rösiö C, Säfsten K. Reconfigurable production system design theoretical and practical challenges. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*. 2013;24(7):998–1018. DOI: 10.1108/JMTM-02-2012-0021
- [69] Andersen A-L, Nielsen K, Brunoe TD. Prerequisites and Barriers for the

Development of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems for High Speed Ramp-up. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;51:7–12. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.05.043

- [70] Pahl G, Beitz W, Feldhusen J, Grote KH. *Engineering Design: A Systematic Approach*. Springer, London; 2007. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-84628-319-2
- [71] Cooper RG. Stage-gate systems: A new tool for managing new products. Business Horizons. 1990;33(3):44–54. DOI: 10.1016/0007-6813(90)90040-I
- [72] Andersen A-L, Andersen R, Napoleone A, Brunoe TD, Kjeldgaard S, Nielsen K, et al. Paving the way for changeable and reconfigurable production: Fundamental principles, development method & examples. Aalborg: REKON Press; 2023.
- [73] Francalanza E, Borg J, Constantinescu C. Development and evaluation of a knowledge-based decision-making approach for designing changeable manufacturing systems. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*. 2017;16:81–101. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2016.06.001
- [74] Najid NM, Castagna P, Kouiss K. System Engineering-Based Methodology to Design Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems. In: Benyoucef L, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: From Design to Implementation. Springer Series in Advanced Manufacturing.* Springer, Cham; 2020. p. 29– 55. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-28782-5_3
- [75] Francalanza E, Borg J, Constantinescu C. Deriving a Systematic Approach to Changeable Manufacturing System Design. *Procedia CIRP*. 2014;17:166–71. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.01.111
- [76] Russo P, Holzner P, Rauch E, Vidoni R, Matt DT, Spena PR, et al. Requirements for the Design of Flexible and Changeable Manufacturing and Assembly Systems: A SME-survey. *Proceedia CIRP*. 2016;41:207–12. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.01.018
- [77] AlGeddawy T, ElMaraghy H. A model for co-evolution in manufacturing based on biological analogy. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2011;49(15):4415–35. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2010.497780
- [78] Tracht K, Hogreve S. Decision Making During Design and Reconfiguration of Modular Assembly Lines. In: ElMaraghy HA, editor. *Enabling Manufacturing Competitiveness and Economic Sustainability*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2011. p. 105–10. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-23860-4_17
- [79] Azab A, ElMaraghy H, Nyhuis P, Pachow-Frauenhofer J, Schmidt M.

Mechanics of change: A framework to reconfigure manufacturing systems. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*. 2013;6(2):110–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2012.12.002

- [80] Wouters M, Anderson JC, Narus JA, Wynstra F. Improving sourcing decisions in NPD projects: Monetary quantification of points of difference. *Journal of Operations Management*. 2009;27(1):64–77. DOI: 10.1016/j.jom.2008.07.001
- [81] de Weck OL, Roos D, Magee CL. 4: Life-Cycle Properties of Engineering Systems: The Ilities. In: de Weck OL, Roos D, Magee CL, editors. Engineering Systems: Meeting Human Needs in a Complex Technological World. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press; 2011. DOI: 10.7551/mitpress/8799.003.0007
- [82] Michaelis MT, Johannesson H, ElMaraghy HA. Function and process modeling for integrated product and manufacturing system platforms. *Journal* of Manufacturing Systems. 2015;36:203–15. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2014.06.012
- [83] Vielhaber M, Stoffels P. Product Development vs. Production Development. *Procedia CIRP*. 2014;21:252–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.03.141
- [84] Swink M. Threats to new product manufacturability and the effects of development team integration processes. *Journal of operations management*. 1999;17(6):691–709. DOI: 10.1016/S0272-6963(99)00027-3
- [85] AlGeddawy TN, ElMaraghy HA. Changeability Effect on Manufacturing Systems Design. In: ElMaraghy HA, editor. *Changeable and Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems*. Springer, London; 2009. p. 267–83. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-84882-067-8_15
- [86] Bruch J, Bellgran M. Integrated portfolio planning of products and production systems. Thomas Lager and Prof. Jean-Philippe Rennard P, editor. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*. 2014;25(2):155–74. DOI: 10.1108/JMTM-09-2013-0126
- [87] Levandowski C, Raudberget D, Johannesson H. Set-Based Concurrent Engineering for Early Phases in Platform Development. In: Cha J, Chou SY, Stjepandić J, Curran R, Xu W, editors. *Moving Integrated Product Development to Service Clouds in the Global Economy*. Amsterdam: IOS Press; 2014. p. 564–76. DOI: 10.3233/978-1-61499-440-4-564
- [88] Adler PS. Interdepartmental Interdependence and Coordination: The Case of

the Design/Manufacturing Interface. *Organization Science*. 1995;6(2):147–67. DOI: 10.1287/orsc.6.2.147

- [89] Brunoe TD, Napoleone A, Andersen A-L, Nielsen K. Impact of Different Financial Evaluation Parameters for Reconfigurable Manufacturing System Investments. In: Dolgui A, Bernard A, Lemoine D, von Cieminski G, Romero D, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems. APMS 2021. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 631. Springer, Cham; 2021. p. 479–87. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-85902-2_51
- [90] Heisel U, Meitzner M. Progress in Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems. In: Dashchenko AI, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems and Transformable Factories*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2006. p. 47–62. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-29397-3_4
- [91] Hague MJ, Taleb-Bendiab A. Tool for the Management of Concurrent Conceptual Engineering Design. *Concurrent Engineering*. 1998;6(2):111–29. DOI: 10.1177/1063293X9800600203
- [92] Carruba FP. *Designing People pleasing products*. The 9th International Conference on Engineering Design. The Hague: Heurista, Zurich; 1993.
- [93] Pugh S. Total Design: Integrated Methods for Successful Product Engineering. Workingham: Addison-Wesley; 1991.
- [94] Bruch J, Rösiö C. Support for successful Production System Development: Handbook. Mälardalens University; 2015.
- [95] Wheelwright SC, Clark KB. *Revolutionizing Product Development: Quantum Leaps in Speed, Efficiency, and Quality.* New York: The Free Press, Simon and Schuster; 1992.
- [96] Ellram LM, Siferd SP. Total cost of ownership: A key concept in strategic cost management decisions. *Journal of Business Logistics*. 1998;19(1):55–84.
- [97] Plank RE, Ferrin BG. How manufacturers value purchase offerings: An exploratory study. *Industrial Marketing Management*. 2002;31(5):457–65. DOI: 10.1016/S0019-8501(01)00161-4
- [98] Engström T, Hanse JJ, Medbo L. Finns det möjligheter att integrera aspekter vid utformningen av produktionssystem genom ett tvär- och mångvetenskapligt samarbete. Arbete Människa Miljö & Nordisk Ergonomi. 1997;4.

- [99] Kadous K, Koonce L, Towry KL. Quantification and Persuasion in Managerial Judgement. Contemporary Accounting Research. 2005;22(3):643–86. DOI: 10.1506/568U-W2FH-9YQM-QG30
- [100] McLeary JW, Haasnoot R, McLeary J, Drake S. *By the numbers; using facts and figures to get your projects, plans, and ideas approved.* New York: American Management Association; 2000.
- [101] O'Sullivan D. Manufacturing Systems Redesign: Creating the Integrated Manufacturing Environment. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall; 1994.
- [102] Cooper R, Kaplan RS. Measure costs right: make the right decisions. *Harvard business review*. 1988;66(5):96.
- [103] Hertenstein JH, Platt MB. Performance Measures and Management Control in New Product Development. Accounting Horizons. 2000;14(3):303–23. DOI: 10.2308/acch.2000.14.3.303
- [104] Adler PS, Mandelbaum A, Nguyen V, Schwerer E. From Project to Process Management: An Empirically-Based Framework for Analyzing Product Development Time. *Management Science*. 1995;41(3):458–84.
- [105] Gupta AK, Wilemon D. Changing Patterns in Industrial R&D Management. Journal of Product Innovation Management. 1996;13(6):497–511. DOI: 10.1111/1540-5885.1360497
- [106] Thompson JD. Organizations in Action: Social Science Bases of Administrative Theory. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1967.
- [107] Kida T, Smith JF. The encoding and retrieval of numerical data for decision making in accounting contexts: Model development. Accounting, Organizations and Society. 1995;20(7):585–610. DOI: 10.1016/0361-3682(95)00014-Z
- [108] Galbraith JR. *Designing Complex Organizations*. Boston, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley; 1973.
- [109] Bertrand JWM, Fransoo JC. Modelling and simulation. In: Karlsson C, editor. *Research Methods for Operations Management*. New York: Routledge; 2009. p. 265–306.
- [110] Cameron WB. Informal Sociology: A Casual Introduction to Sociological Thinking. New York: Random House; 1963.

- [111] Milligan B. Tracking total cost of ownership proves elusive. *Purchasing*. 1999;127(3):22–3.
- [112] Milligan B. Quest for total cost of ownership continues. *Purchasing*. 2000;129(6):30–2.
- [113] Váncza J. Production Networks. In: The International Academy for Production Engineering, Laperrière L, Reinhart G, editors. *CIRP Encyclopedia of Production Engineering*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2016. p. 1–8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-35950-7_16829-1
- [114] Schönsleben P. Changeability of strategic and tactical production concepts. *CIRP Annals*. 2009;58(1):383–6. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2009.03.113
- [115] Dreßler D, Beißert U. Entwicklung eines integrierten Ansatzes für das Störungsmanagement in komplexen Transportnetzen unter Berücksichtigung variabler Störungsdauern. In: Dangelmaier W, Laroque C, Klaas A, editors. Simulation in Produktion und Logistik: Entscheidungsunterstützung von der Planung bis zur Steuerung. Paderborn: Heinz Nixdorf Institut Verlagsschriftenreihe; 2013. p. 157–66.
- [116] Peukert S, Hörger M, Lanza G. Fostering robustness in production networks in an increasingly disruption-prone world. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*. 2023;41:413–29. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2023.01.002
- [117] Stricker N, Lanza G. The Concept of Robustness in Production Systems and its Correlation to Disturbances. *Proceedia CIRP*. 2014;19:87–92. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.04.078
- [118] Meyer T, Jacob F. Network Design: Optimizing the Global Production Footprint. In: Abele E, Meyer T, Näher U, Strube G, Sykes R, editors. *Global Production: A Handbook for Strategy and Implementation*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2008. p. 140–90. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-71653-2_4
- [119] Melo MT, Nickel S, Saldanha-da-Gama F. Facility location and supply chain management – A review. *European Journal of Operational Research*. 2009;196(2):401–12. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejor.2008.05.007
- [120] Wiendahl H-P, Lutz S. Production in Networks. *CIRP Annals*. 2002;51(2):573–86. DOI: 10.1016/S0007-8506(07)61701-6
- [121] Moser E, Stricker N, Lanza G. Risk Efficient Migration Strategies for Global Production Networks. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;57:104–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.11.019

- [122] Treber S, Moser E, Helming S, Haefner B, Lanza G. Practice-oriented methodology for reallocating production technologies to production locations in global production networks. *Production Engineering*. 2019;13(3):283–91. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-019-00876-5
- [123] Olhager J, Pashaei S, Sternberg H. Design of global production and distribution networks: A literature review and research agenda. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*. 2015;45(1/2):138–58. DOI: 10.1108/IJPDLM-05-2013-0131
- [124] Holweg M, Helo P. Defining value chain architectures: Linking strategic value creation to operational supply chain design. *International Journal of Production Economics*. 2014;147(B):230–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.06.015
- [125] Klibi W, Martel A, Guitouni A. The design of robust value-creating supply chain networks: A critical review. *European Journal of Operational Research*. 2010;203(2):283–93. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejor.2009.06.011
- [126] Coe NM, Yeung HW. Global production networks: mapping recent conceptual developments. *Journal of Economic Geography*. 2019;19(4):775– 801. DOI: 10.1093/jeg/lbz018
- [127] Klenk F, Kerndl F, Heidinger F, Benfer M, Peukert S, Lanza G. Product allocation and network configuration in global production networks. *Production Engineering*. 2023;17(1):117–32. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-022-01149-4
- [128] Lanza G, Peukert S, Steier GL. Chapter 3 Latest advances in cloud manufacturing and global production networks enabling the shift to the mass personalization paradigm. In: Mourtzis D, editor. *Design and Operation of Production Networks for Mass Personalization in the Era of Cloud Technology*. Elsevier; 2022. p. 39–77. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-823657-4.00008-7
- [129] Ferdows K. Relating the Firm's Global Production Network to Its Strategy. In: Johansen J, Farooq S, Cheng Y, editors. *International Operations Networks*. Springer, London; 2014. p. 1–11. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4471-5646-8_1
- [130] Ferdows K. Made in the World: the Gobal Spread of Production. Production and Operations Management. 1997;6(2):102–9. DOI: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.1997.tb00418.x

- [131] Granlund A, Rösiö C, Bruch J, Johansson PE. Lead factory operationalisation and challenges. *Production Planning & Control*. 2019;30(2–3):96–111. DOI: 10.1080/09537287.2018.1534292
- [132] Abele E, Kluge J. How to Go Global Designing and Implementing Global Production Networks Projektbericht "ProNet." Düsseldorf: McKinsey; 2005.
- [133] Meyer T, Jacob F. Gestaltung globaler Produktionsnetzwerke. In: Abele E, Kluge J, N\u00e4her U, editors. *Handbuch Globale Produktion*. Carl Hanser Verlag; 2006. p. 144–99.
- [134] Meyer T. Globale Produktionsnetzwerke: ein Modell zur kostenoptimierten Standortwahl. Technische Universität Darmstadt; 2006.
- [135] Váncza J, Monostori L, Lutters D, Kumara SR, Tseng M, Valckenaers P, et al. Cooperative and responsive manufacturing enterprises. *CIRP Annals*. 2011;60(2):797–820. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2011.05.009
- [136] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. Annual Report. Aarhus; 2022.
- [137] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. Track Record: June. Aarhus; 2023.
- [138] Blackridge Research & Consulting. *Global Wind Turbine Market Outlook to 2028*. 2023.
- [139] Wu DJ, Kleindorfer PR, Zhang JE. Optimal bidding and contracting strategies for capital-intensive goods. *European Journal of Operational Research*. 2002;137(3):657–76. DOI: 10.1016/S0377-2217(01)00093-5
- [140] Christensen B. *Kapitler af Vindkraftens Historie i Danmark: 7. Årgang.* Danmarks Vindkrafthistoriske Samling. Lem; 2011.
- [141] Christensen B. Kapitler af Vindkraftens Historie i Danmark: 12. Årgang. Danmarks Vindkrafthistoriske Samling. Lem; 2018.
- [142] Christensen B. Vinden som Vestjysk Energikilde. Danmarks Vindkrafthistoriske Samling. Lem; 2003.
- [143] Barla S, Lico E. Global wind turbine OEMs 2021 market share. Aarhus; 2022.
- [144] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. Track Record: June. Aarhus; 2011.
- [145] Nørskov SS. Vestas-mølle slår verdensrekord for en vindmølles døgnproduktion. Ingeniøren: Gridtech; 15/07-2023.

- [146] Lico E. Current state of global wind supply chain. Aarhus; 2022.
- [147] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. 2 MW Platform. Aarhus; 2023.
- [148] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. 4 MW Platform. Aarhus; 2023.
- [149] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. EnVentusTM Platform. Aarhus; 2023.
- [150] Wittrup S. Vestas skifter teknologi på de 80 meter lange vinger. Ingeniøren; 31/12-2012.
- [151] Christensen TB. Vestas sætter kronen på supervåben. Energiwatch; 20/12-2013.
- [152] Bergman H. Gigantisk transport sneg sig afsted. TV2 Fyn; 24/02-2023.
- [153] Gardiner G. Blade cycle time: 37 percent faster. CompositesWorld; 02/01-2012.
- [154] Osmundsen P. Kæmpemølle på 280 meter i Østerild: Vestas i Lem har lavet formen til den største vindmølle-vinge nogensinde. Ringkøbing-Skjern Dagbladet; 31/10-2021.
- [155] Ritzau. Vestas udvider samarbejde med TPI. Energiwatch; 10/07-2018.
- [156] Kjeldgaard S, Napoleone A, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. Changeable Manufacturing: A Comparative Study of Requirements and Potentials in Two Industrial Cases. In: Dolgui A, Bernard A, Lemoine D, von Cieminski G, Romero D, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems. APMS 2021. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 631. Springer, Cham; 2021. p. 452–61. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-85902-2_48
- [157] Kjeldgaard S, Andersen R, Napoleone A, Brunoe TD, Andersen A-L. Facilitating Manufacturing System Development: Mapping Changeability Capabilities in Two Industrial Cases. In: Valle M, Lehmhus D, Gianoglio C, Ragusa E, Seminara L, Bosse S, et al., editors. Advances in System-Integrated Intelligence. SYSINT 2022. Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, vol 546. Springer, Cham; 2023. p. 626–35. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-031-16281-7_59
- [158] Kjeldgaard S, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. Evaluation of reconfigurability potentials in a global production network. (Under review by the CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology, submitted

November 2023).

- [159] Kjeldgaard S, Brunoe TD, Andersen R, Sorensen DGH, Andersen A-L, Nielsen K. Brownfield Design of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Architectures: An Application of a Modified MFD to the Capital Goods Industry. *Procedia CIRP*. 2022;107:1293–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2022.05.147
- [160] Kjeldgaard S, Jorsal AL, Albrecht V, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. Towards a model for evaluating the investment of reconfigurable and platform-based manufacturing concepts considering footprint adaptability. In: *Procedia CIRP*. 2021. p. 553–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2021.11.093
- [161] Kjeldgaard S, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. Methods and Models to Evaluate the Investment of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: Literature Review and Research Directions. In: Andersen A-L, Andersen R, Brunoe TD, Larsen MSS, Nielsen K, Napoleone A, et al., editors. *Towards Sustainable Customization: Bridging Smart Products and Manufacturing Systems. CARV/MCPC 2021. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering.* Springer, Cham; 2022. p. 138–46. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-90700-6 15
- [162] Kjeldgaard S, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD. Enabling adaptability and resilience of a global production network: A model to evaluate capital and operational expenses of reconfigurable production systems. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2023;66:142–62. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2022.12.003
- [163] Kusiak A, Lee GH. Design of components and manufacturing systems for reconfigurability. In: Proceedings of the First World Conference on Integrated Design and Process Technology. Austin, Texas: Society for Design and Process Science; 1995. p. 14–20.
- [164] Tönshoff HK, Menzel E, Hinkenhuis H, Nitidem E. Intelligence in machine tools by configuration. In: Usui E, editor. *Advancement of Intelligent production*. Chiba: Elsevier; 1994. p. 21–30. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-444-81901-7.50008-6
- [165] Erixon G, von Yxkull A, Arnström A. Modularity the Basis for Product and Factory Reengineering. CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology. 1996;45(1):1–6. DOI: 10.1016/S0007-8506(07)63005-4
- [166] Lee GH. Reconfigurability consideration design of components and manufacturing systems. *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*. 1997;13(5):376–86. DOI: 10.1007/BF01178258

- [167] Tsukune H, Tsukamoto M, Matsushita T, Tomita F, Okada K, Ogasawara T, et al. Modular manufacturing. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*. 1993;4(2):163–81. DOI: 10.1007/BF00123909
- [168] Rogers GG, Bottaci L. Modular production systems: A new manufacturing paradigm. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*. 1997;8(2):147–56. DOI: 10.1023/A:1018560922013
- [169] Heisel U, Michaelis M. Rekonfigurierbare Werkzeugmaschinen. Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetrieb. 1998;93(10):506–7. DOI: 10.1515/zwf-1998-0281
- [170] Cheng Y, Farooq S, Johansen J, O'Brien C. The management of international manufacturing networks: a missing link towards total management of global networks. *Production Planning and Control.* 2019;30(2–3):91–5. DOI: 10.1080/09537287.2018.1534273
- [171] Falk S, Lehmann-Brauns S, Schmidt F, Piller F, Matischok L, Brachmann D, et al. Corona und die Folgen - Zehn Thesen zur Zukunft digitaler Geschäftsmodelle für Industrie 4.0 in der Post-Corona-Ökonomie. Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie - IPlattformindustrie 4.0. 2020;5.
- [172] Napoleone A, Bruzzone A, Andersen AL, Brunoe TD. Fostering the Reuse of Manufacturing Resources for Resilient and Sustainable Supply Chains. *Sustainability*. 2022;14(10):1–15. DOI: 10.3390/su14105890
- [173] Morgan J, Halton M, Qiao Y, Breslin JG. Industry 4.0 smart reconfigurable manufacturing machines. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;59:481– 506. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.03.001
- [174] Heim H-P, Sauer V, Mieth F. Assessment of the changeability of plastics processing systems. In: Proceedings of the 72nd Annual Technical Conference of the Society of Plastics Engineers (ANTEC 2014); the Plastics Conference. Las Vegas, Nevada: Curran Associates; 2014. p. 1490–5.
- [175] Drabow G. Modulare Gestaltung und ganzheitliche Bewertung wandlungsfähiger Fertigungssysteme. Leibniz Universität Hannover; 2006.
- [176] Heger CL. *Bewertung der Wandlungsfähigkeit von Fabrikobjekten*. Leibniz Universität Hannover; 2007.
- [177] Abele E, Albrecht F, Schröder L. Wandlungsfähige Produktion in der Medizintechnik: Analyse und Optimierung der Wandlungsfähigkeit.

Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetrieb. 2011;106(5):306–9. DOI: 10.3139/104.110559

- [178] Baudzus B, Krebs M. Manuelle Montageprozesse im wandlungsfähigen Produktionssystem: Szenariobasierte Gestaltung rekonfigurierbarer Prozessmodule. Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetrieb. 2012;107(5):344–8. DOI: 10.3139/104.110761
- [179] Fohrholz C, Gronau N. The Manufacturing Adaptability Scorecard a tool to analyze the benefit of autonomous production processes. In: ElMaraghy HA, editor. *Enabling Manufacturing Competitiveness and Economic Sustainability*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 166–71. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-23860-4_27
- [180] Boldt S, Rösiö C, Bergström A, Jödicke L. Assessment of Reconfigurability Level within Existing Manufacturing Systems. *Procedia CIRP*. 2021;104:1458–63. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2021.11.246
- [181] Boldt S, Rösiö C. Evaluation of Reconfigurability in Brownfield Manufacturing Development. In: Säfsten K, Elgh F, editors. SPS2020: Proceedings of the Swedish Production Symposium. Advances in Transdisciplinary Engineering. Jönköping: IOS Press; 2020. p. 513–24. DOI: 10.3233/ATDE200190
- [182] Napoleone A, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K, Boldt S, Rösiö C, et al. Towards an Industry-Applicable Design Methodology for Developing Reconfigurable Manufacturing. In: Lalic B, Majstorovic V, Marjanovic U, von Cieminski G, Romero D, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. The Path to Digital Transformation and Innovation of Production Management Systems. APMS 2020. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 591. Springer, Cham; 2020. p. 449–56. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-57993-7_51
- [183] Singh A, Gupta S, Asjad M, Gupta P. Reconfigurable manufacturing systems: journey and the road ahead. *International Journal of System Assurance Engineering and Management*. 2017;8(2):1849–57. DOI: 10.1007/s13198-017-0610-z
- [184] Gyulai D, Monostori L. Capacity management of modular assembly systems. Journal of Manufacturing Systems. 2017;43:88–99. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2017.02.008
- [185] Bejlegaard M, Brunoe TD, Bossen J, Andersen AL, Nielsen K. Reconfigurable Manufacturing Potential in Small and Medium Enterprises

with Low Volume and High Variety: Pre-design Evaluation of RMS. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;51:32–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.05.055

- [186] Biswas P, Kumar S, Jain V, Chandra C. Measuring Supply Chain Reconfigurability using Integrated and Deterministic Assessment Models. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2019;52(A):172–83. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2019.05.008
- [187] Tranfield D, Denyer D, Smart P. Towards a Methodology for Developing Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review. *British Journal of Management*. 2003;14(3):207–22. DOI: 10.1111/1467-8551.00375
- [188] Booth A, Papaioannou D, Sutton A. *Systematic Approaches to a Successful Literature Review*. London: Sage Publications; 2012.
- [189] Coppini A, Saliba MA. Towards Practical Guidelines for Conversion from a Fixed to a Reconfigurable Manufacturing Automation System. *Procedia Manufacturing*. 2017;11:1102–11. DOI: 10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.229
- [190] Fries C, Hölscher P, Brützel O, Lanza G, Bauernhansl T. Approach for Evaluating Changeable Production Systems in a Battery Module Production Use Case. In: Kim KY, Monplaisir L, Rickli J, editors. *Flexible Automation* and Intelligent Manufacturing: The Human-Data-Technology Nexus. FAIM 2022. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham; 2023. p. 207–16. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-031-18326-3_21
- [191] Boldt S, Rösiö C, Linnéusson G. Mapping production capabilities: Proposing support towards changeable production. In: Galizia FG, Bortolini M, editors. *Production Processes and Product Evolution in the Age of Disruption. CARV* 2023. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham; 2023. p. 330–7. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-031-34821-1_36
- [192] Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K, Bejlegaard M. Evaluating the investment feasibility and industrial implementation of changeable and reconfigurable manufacturing concepts. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*. 2018;29(3):449–77. DOI: 10.1108/JMTM-03-2017-0039
- [193] Brunoe TD, Andersen A-L, Sorensen DGH, Nielsen K, Bejlegaard M. Integrated product-process modelling for platform-based co-development. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2020;58(20):6185–201. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2019.1671628

- [194] Andersen A-L, ElMaraghy H, ElMaraghy W, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K. A participatory systems design methodology for changeable manufacturing systems. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2018;56(8):2769–87. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2017.1394594
- [195] Benkamoun N, Kouiss K, Huyet AL. An intelligent design environment for changeability management - application to manufacturing systems. In: Weber C, Husung S, Cantamessa M, editors. Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED 15), Volume 3: Design Organisation and management. Milan: The Design Society; 2015. p. 209–18.
- [196] Schou C, Sorensen DGH, Li C, Brunoe TD, Madsen O. Determining manufacturing system changes based on new product specifications. *Journal* of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing. 2020; DOI: 10.1108/JGOSS-10-2019-0060
- [197] Brunoe TD, Sorensen DGH, Bejlegaard M, Andersen A-L, Nielsen K. Product-Process Modelling as an Enabler of Manufacturing Changeability. In: Moon I, Lee GM, Park J, Kiritsis D, von Cieminski G, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. Production Management for Data-Driven, Intelligent, Collaborative, and Sustainable Manufacturing. APMS 2018. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 535. Springer, Cham; 2018. p. 328–35. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-99704-9 40
- [198] Brunoe TD, Sørensen DGH, Andersen A-L, Nielsen K. Framework for Integrating Production System Models and Product Family Models. *Procedia CIRP*. 2018;72:592–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.020
- [199] Gumasta K, Kumar Gupta S, Benyoucef L, Tiwari MK. Developing a reconfigurability index using multi-attribute utility theory. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2011;49(6):1669–83. DOI: 10.1080/00207540903555536
- [200] Goyal KK, Jain PK, Jain M. Optimal configuration selection for reconfigurable manufacturing system using NSGA II and TOPSIS. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2012;50(15):4175–91. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2011.599345
- [201] Huettemann G, Gaffry C, Schmitt RH. Adaptation of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems for Industrial Assembly – Review of Flexibility Paradigms, Concepts, and Outlook. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;52:112–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.07.021
- [202] Milberg J, Möller N. Valuation of changeable production systems. Production

Engineering. 2008;2(4):417-24. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-008-0133-1

- [203] Kuzgunkaya O, ElMaraghy HA. Economic and strategic perspectives on investing in RMS and FMS. *International Journal of Flexible Manufacturing Systems*. 2008;19(3):217–46. DOI: 10.1007/s10696-008-9038-8
- [204] Khanna K, Kumar R. Reconfigurable manufacturing system: a state-of-theart review. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*. 2019;26(8):2608–35. DOI: 10.1108/BIJ-05-2018-0140
- [205] Niroomand I, Kuzgunkaya O, Bulgak AA. Impact of reconfiguration characteristics for capacity investment strategies in manufacturing systems. *International Journal of Production Economics*. 2012;139(1):288–301. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.05.012
- [206] Niroomand I, Kuzgunkaya O, Bulgak AA. The effect of system configuration and ramp-up time on manufacturing system acquisition under uncertain demand. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*. 2014;73:61–74. DOI: 10.1016/j.cie.2014.04.017
- [207] Ahmad A, Masood T, Kousar R. Reconfiguring and ramping-up ventilator production in the face of COVID-19: Can robots help? *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;60:864–75. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.09.008
- [208] Verhaelen B, Martin M, Peukert S, Lanza G. Practice-oriented methodology for increasing production ramp-up efficiency in global production networks of SME. *Production Engineering*. 2023;17(1):145–77. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-022-01154-7
- [209] Napoleone A, Pozzetti A, Macchi M. A framework to manage reconfigurability in manufacturing. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2018;56(11):3815–37. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2018.1437286
- [210] Gyulai D, Kádár B, Kovács A, Monostori L. Capacity management for assembly systems with dedicated and reconfigurable resources. *CIRP Annals*. 2014;63(1):457–60. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.110
- [211] Gyulai D, Kádár B, Monostori L. Capacity Planning and Resource Allocation in Assembly Systems Consisting of Dedicated and Reconfigurable Lines. *Procedia CIRP*. 2014;25:185–91. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.10.028
- [212] Baker KR. An Experimental Study of the Effectiveness of Rolling Schedules in Production Planning. *Decision Sciences*. 1977;8(1):19–27. DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.1977.tb01065.x

- [213] Baker KR, Peterson DW. An Analytic Framework for Evaluating Rolling Schedules. *Management Science*. 1979;25(4):341–51. DOI: 10.1287/mnsc.25.4.341
- [214] Lanza G, Peters S. Integrated capacity planning over highly volatile horizons. *CIRP Annals*. 2012;61(1):395–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2012.03.057
- [215] Pansare R, Yadav G, Nagare MR. Reconfigurable manufacturing system: a systematic review, meta-analysis and future research directions. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology*. 2021; DOI: 10.1108/JEDT-05-2021-0231
- [216] Bortolini M, Ferrari E, Galizia FG, Regattieri A. An optimisation model for the dynamic management of cellular reconfigurable manufacturing systems under auxiliary module availability constraints. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;58(A):442–51. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.01.001
- [217] Bortolini M, Galizia FG, Mora C, Pilati F. Reconfigurability in cellular manufacturing systems: a design model and multi-scenario analysis. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*. 2019;104(9):4387–97. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-019-04179-y
- [218] Becker T, Lier S, Werners B. Tactical Planning of Modular Production Networks with Reconfigurable Plants. In: Kliewer N, Ehmke JF, Borndörfer R, editors. *Operations Research Proceedings 2017*. Springer, Cham; 2018. p. 549–55. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-89920-6 73
- [219] Becker T, Lutter P, Lier S, Werners B. Optimization of Modular Production Networks Considering Demand Uncertainties. In: Fink A, Fügenschuh A, Geiger MJ, editors. *Operations Research Proceedings 2016*. Springer, Cham; 2018. p. 413–8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-55702-1_55
- [220] Wörsdörfer D, Lutter P, Lier S, Werners B. Optimized Modular Production Networks in the Process Industry. In: Dörner KF, Ljubic I, Pflug G, Tragler G, editors. *Operations Research Proceedings 2015*. Springer, Cham; 2017. p. 429–35. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-42902-1 58
- [221] Gadalla M, Xue D. Recent advances in research on reconfigurable machine tools: a literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2017;55(5):1440–54. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2016.1237795
- [222] Tian Q, Guo W. Reconfiguration of manufacturing supply chains considering outsourcing decisions and supply chain risks. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2019;52:217–26. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2019.04.005

- [223] Guo W, Tian Q, Jiang Z, Wang H. A graph-based cost model for supply chain reconfiguration. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2018;48:55–63. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2018.04.015
- [224] Epureanu BI, Li X, Nassehi A, Koren Y. An agile production network enabled by reconfigurable manufacturing systems. *CIRP Annals*. 2021;70(1):403–6. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2021.04.085
- [225] Li X, Bayrak AE, Epureanu BI, Koren Y. Real-time teaming of multiple reconfigurable manufacturing systems. *CIRP Annals*. 2018;67(1):437–40. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2018.04.051
- [226] Naimi M Al, Faisal MN, Sobh R, Sabir L Bin, Al Naimi M, Faisal MN, et al. A systematic mapping review exploring 10 years of research on supply chain resilience and reconfiguration. *International Journal of Logistics Research* and Applications. 2021;25(8):1–28. DOI: 10.1080/13675567.2021.1893288
- [227] Hochdörffer J, Klenk F, Fusen T, Häfner B, Lanza G. Approach for integrated product variant allocation and configuration adaption of global production networks featuring post-optimality analysis. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2022;60(7):2168–92. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2021.1884765
- [228] Hochdörffer J. Integrierte Produktallokationsstrategie und Konfigurationssequenz in globalen Produktionsnetzwerken. Karlsruher Institut für Technologie; 2018. DOI: 10.2370/9783844058451
- [229] Schreiber B, Brundin N. *Managing Global Production Networks*. Arthur D. Little. Frankfurt; 2015.
- [230] Olivares-Aguila J, ElMaraghy W. System dynamics modelling for supply chain disruptions. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2021;59(6):1757–75. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2020.1725171
- [231] Buergin J, Blaettchen P, Kronenbitter J, Molzahn K, Schweizer Y, Strunz C, et al. Robust assignment of customer orders with uncertain configurations in a production network for aircraft manufacturing. *International Journal of Production Research*. 2019;57(3):749–63. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2018.1482018
- [232] Liao Y, Kaviyani-Charati M, Hajiaghaei-Keshteli M, Diabat A. Designing a closed-loop supply chain network for citrus fruits crates considering environmental and economic issues. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2020;55:199–220. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.02.001

- [233] Shen G, Luo K, Li L. A multi-plant production planning model considering non-repeated setup and aperiodic shipment. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2020;57:451–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.11.007
- [234] Verhaelen B, Peukert S, Lanza G. Site Selection Processes in Global Production Networks. In: Friedli T, Lanza G, Remling D, editors. Global Manufacturing Management: From Excellent Plants Toward Network Optimization. Management for Professionals. Springer, Cham; 2021. p. 101– 15. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-72740-6 7
- [235] Verhaelen B, Mayer F, Peukert S, Lanza G. A comprehensive KPI network for the performance measurement and management in global production networks. *Production Engineering*. 2021;15(5):635–50. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-021-01041-7
- [236] Hamzadayi A, Ali MA, Atabak E. Distributed assembly permutation flow shop problem; Single seekers society algorithm. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;61:613–31. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.10.012
- [237] Roudbari ES, Fatemi Ghomi SMT, Sajadieh MS. Reverse logistics network design for product reuse, remanufacturing, recycling and refurbishing under uncertainty. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;60:473–86. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.06.012
- [238] Pourhejazy P, Cheng CY, Ying KC, Lin SY. Supply chain-oriented two-stage assembly flowshops with sequence-dependent setup times. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;61:139–54. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.08.014
- [239] Rajesh R. Flexible business strategies to enhance resilience in manufacturing supply chains: An empirical study. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;60:903–19. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.10.010
- [240] Chen J, Wang H, Zhong RY. A supply chain disruption recovery strategy considering product change under COVID-19. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2021;60:920–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2021.04.004
- [241] Al-Zaher A, ElMaraghy W, Pasek ZJ. RMS design methodology for automotive framing systems BIW. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*. 2013;32(3):436–48. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2013.04.010
- [242] Holt JRH. Volvo lægger om til "legoklodsproduktion" for at nå mål om at køre grønt. Ingeniøren: Tech Management; 10/01-2022.
- [243] Benkamoun N. Systemic design methodology for changeable manufacturing

systems. Blaise Pascal University; 2016.

- [244] Andersen A-L, Rösiö C, Bruch J, Jackson M. Reconfigurable Manufacturing – An Enabler for a Production System Portfolio Approach. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;52:139–44. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.07.011
- [245] Koren Y. The rapid responsiveness of RMS. International Journal of Production Research. 2013;51(23–24):6817–27. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2013.856528
- [246] Andersen A-L, Larsen JK, Brunoe TD, Nielsen K, Ketelsen C. Exploring Requirements and Implementation of Changeability and Reconfigurability in Danish Manufacturing. *Procedia CIRP*. 2018;72:665–70. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.078
- [247] Saliba MA, Zammit D, Azzopardi S. Towards practical, high-level guidelines to promote company strategy for the use of reconfigurable manufacturing automation. *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing*. 2017;47:53– 60. DOI: 10.1016/j.rcim.2016.12.002
- [248] Caniato F, Doran D, Sousa R, Boer H. Designing and developing OM research – from concept to publication. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*. 2018;38(9):1836–56. DOI: 10.1108/IJOPM-01-2017-0038
- [249] Creswell JW, Poth CN. Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications; 2018.
- [250] Seawright J. Multi-Method Social Science: Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Tools. Cambridge University Press; 2016.
- [251] Yin R. Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods. Los Angeles, California: Sage Publications; 2018.
- [252] Andersen R, Andersen A-L, Brunoe TD. Closing the gap: communicating research to industry through the REKON dissemination format. In: Galizia FG, Bortolini M, editors. *Production Processes and Product Evolution in the Age of Disruption. CARV 2023. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering.* Springer, Cham; 2023. p. 293–302. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-031-34821-1_32
- [253] Zidi S, Hamani N, Kermad L. New metrics for measuring supply chain reconfigurability. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*. 2021;33:2371–92. DOI: 10.1007/s10845-021-01798-9

- [254] Asmussen JN, Kristensen J, Steger-Jensen K, Wæhrens BV. When to integrate strategic and tactical decisions? Introduction of an asset/inventory ratio guiding fit for purpose production planning. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*. 2018;48(5):545–68. DOI: 10.1108/JJPDLM-02-2018-0058
- [255] Yoram K. The Emergence of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems (RMSs). In: Benyoucef L, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: From Design to Implementation. Springer Series in Advanced Manufacturing.* Springer, Cham; 2020. p. 47–62. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-28782-5 1
- [256] Kauder S, Meyr H. Strategic network planning for an international automotive manufacturer. OR Spectrum. 2009;31(3):507–32. DOI: 10.1007/s00291-009-0171-x
- [257] Schuh G, Potente T, Varandani R, Schmitz T. Global Footprint Design based on genetic algorithms – An "Industry 4.0" perspective. *CIRP Annals*. 2014;63(1):433–6. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.121
- [258] Cheng Y, Farooq S, Johansen J. International manufacturing network: past, present, and future. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*. 2015;35(3):392–429. DOI: 10.1108/IJOPM-03-2013-0146
- [259] Schönsleben P, Radke AM, Plehn J, Finke G, Hertz P. Toward the integrated determination of a strategic production network design, distribution network design, service network design, and transport network design for manufacturers of physical products. 2015. DOI: 10.3929/ethz-a-010423875
- [260] Tauterat T, Schmeinck N, Keckl S, Mikusz M. Further Development of the Stuttgart Enterprise Model in Terms of the Applicability to Global Manufacturing Networks. *Procedia CIRP*. 2014;19:45–50. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.05.010
- [261] Brettel M, Klein M, Friederichsen N. The Relevance of Manufacturing Flexibility in the Context of Industrie 4.0. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;41:105–10. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2015.12.047
- [262] Mikusz M, Heber D, Katzfuß C, Monauni M, Tauterat T. Changeable Manufacturing on the Network Level. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;41:27–32. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2015.12.012
- [263] Monauni M. Agility Enablers in Production Networks Pooling and Allying of Manufacturing Resources. *Procedia CIRP*. 2014;17:657–62. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.01.106

- [264] Lanza G, Moser R. Multi-objective optimization of global manufacturing networks taking into account multi-dimensional uncertainty. *CIRP Annals*. 2014;63(1):397–400. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.116
- [265] Ferdows K. Keeping up with growing complexity of managing global operations. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*. 2018;38(2):390–402. DOI: 10.1108/IJOPM-01-2017-0019
- [266] Friedli T, Lanza G, Schuh G, Treber S, Wiech M, Gützlaff A. Aktive Gestaltung globaler Produktionsnetzwerke. Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetrieb. 2017;112(5):279–83. DOI: 10.3139/104.111716
- [267] ElMaraghy W, ElMaraghy H, Tomiyama T, Monostori L. Complexity in engineering design and manufacturing. *CIRP Annals*. 2012;61(2):793–814. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2012.05.001
- [268] Wagner C, Nyhuis P. A systematic approach to analysis and design of global production networks. *Production Engineering*. 2009;3(3):295–303. DOI: 10.1007/s11740-009-0167-z
- [269] Reuter C, Hausberg C. An IT driven approach for global production network design. In: *Proceedings of the International MultiConference of Engineers* and Computer Scientists. Hong Kong: Newswood; 2015. p. 888–93.
- [270] Kádár B, Egri P, Pedone G, Chida T. Smart, simulation-based resource sharing in federated production networks. *CIRP Annals*. 2018;67(1):503–6. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2018.04.046
- [271] Freitag M, Becker T, Duffie NA. Dynamics of resource sharing in production networks. CIRP Annals. 2015;64(1):435–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2015.04.124
- [272] Kück M, Becker T, Freitag M. Emergence of Non-predictable Dynamics Caused by Shared Resources in Production Networks. *Procedia CIRP*. 2016;41:520–5. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2015.12.017
- [273] Weiler S, Páez D, Chun JH, Graves SC, Lanza G. Supply chain design for the global expansion of manufacturing capacity in emerging markets. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*. 2011;4(3):265–80. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2011.06.012
- [274] Costa Ferreira Junior S, Fleury A. Performance assessment process model for international manufacturing networks. *International Journal of Operations* \& *Production Management*. 2018;38(10):1915–36. DOI: 10.1108/IJOPM-03-2017-0183

- [275] Lanza G, Schuh G, Friedli T, Verhaelen B, Rodemann N, Remling D. Transformation globaler Produktionsnetzwerke: Trends und Herausforderungen. Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetrieb. 2020;115(4):196–9. DOI: doi:10.3139/104.112262
- [276] Lanza G, Ude J. Multidimensional evaluation of value added networks. CIRP Annals. 2010;59(1):489–92. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2010.03.080
- [277] Stecca G, Lanza G, Peters S. Optimization in Manufacturing. In: Laperrière L, Reinhart G, editors. *CIRP Encyclopedia of Production Engineering*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2014. p. 929–32. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-20617-7 6565
- [278] Lanza G, Peters S, Herrmann H-G. Dynamic optimization of manufacturing systems in automotive industries. CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology. 2012;5(4):235–40. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirpj.2012.09.002
- [279] Scholz-Reiter B, Wirth F, Makuschewitz T, Schönlein M. Robust capacity allocation in dynamic production networks. *CIRP Annals*. 2011;60(1):445–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2011.03.035
- [280] Chaube A, Benyoucef L, Tiwari MK. An adapted NSGA-2 algorithm based dynamic process plan generation for a reconfigurable manufacturing system. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*. 2012;23(4):1141–55. DOI: 10.1007/s10845-010-0453-9
- [281] Zidi S, Hamani N, Kermad L. Modularity Metric in Reconfigurable Supply Chain. In: Dolgui A, Bernard A, Lemoine D, von Cieminski G, Romero D, editors. Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems. APMS 2021. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, vol 634. Springer, Cham; 2021. p. 455–64. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-85914-5_49
- [282] Dolgui A, Ivanov D. Exploring supply chain structural dynamics: New disruptive technologies and disruption risks. *International Journal of Production Economics*. 2020;229:107886. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107886
- [283] Dolgui A, Ivanov D, Sokolov B. Reconfigurable supply chain: the X-network. International Journal of Production Research. 2020;58(13):4138–63. DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2020.1774679
- [284] Biswas P. Modeling reconfigurability in supply chains using total interpretive structural modeling. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*. 2017;14(2):194–221. DOI: 10.1108/JAMR-09-2016-0071

- [285] Creswell JW. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications; 2022.
- [286] Hevner AR, March ST, Park J, Ram S. Design Science in Information Systems Research. MIS Quarterly. 2004;28(1):75–105. DOI: 10.2307/25148625
- [287] Holmström J, Ketokivi M, Hameri A-P. Bridging Practice and Theory: A Design Science Approach. *Decision Sciences*. 2009;40(1):65–87. DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.2008.00221.x
- [288] Purao S. Design Research in the Technology of Information Systems: Truth or Dare. 2002.
- [289] Simon HA. Does scientific discovery have a logic? *Philosophy of Science*. 1973;40(4):471–480. DOI: 10.1086/288559
- [290] Niiniluoto I. The aim and structure of applied research. *Erkenntnis*. 1993;38(1):1–21. DOI: 10.1007/BF01129020
- [291] Meredith JR. Hopes for the future of operations management. Journal of Operations Management. 2001;19(4):397–402. DOI: 10.1016/S0272-6963(01)00056-0
- [292] Hevner AR. A Three Cycle View of Design Science Research. *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems*. 2007;19(2):87–92.
- [293] Hevner A, Chatterjee S. Design Science Research in Information Systems. In: Hevner A, Chatterjee S, editors. *Design Research in Information Systems: Theory and Practice*. Springer, Boston, Massachusetts; 2010. p. 9–22. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-5653-8_2
- [294] Johannesson P, Perjons E. A Method Framework for Design Science Research. In: Johannesson P, Perjons E, editors. An Introduction to Design Science. Springer, Cham; 2014. p. 75–89. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-10632-8_4
- [295] Ketokivi M, Choi T. Renaissance of case research as a scientific method. Journal of Operations Management. 2014;32(5):232–40. DOI: 10.1016/j.jom.2014.03.004
- [296] Hart C. Doing a Literature Review: Releasing the Social Science Research Imagination. Sage Publications; 2018.

- [297] Snyder H. Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*. 2019;104:333–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039
- [298] Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage Publications; 1985.
- [299] Aytug ZG, Rothstein HR, Zhou W, Kern MC. Revealed or Concealed? Transparency of Procedures, Decisions, and Judgment Calls in Meta-Analyses. Organizational Research Methods. 2011;15(1):103–33. DOI: 10.1177/1094428111403495
- [300] Paré G, Tate M, Johnstone D, Kitsiou S. Contextualizing the twin concepts of systematicity and transparency in information systems literature reviews. *European Journal of Information Systems*. 2016;25(6):493–508. DOI: 10.1057/s41303-016-0020-3
- [301] Paré G, Trudel MC, Jaana M, Kitsiou S. Synthesizing information systems knowledge: A typology of literature reviews. *Information & Management*. 2015;52(2):183–99. DOI: 10.1016/j.im.2014.08.008
- [302] Rowe F. What literature review is not: diversity, boundaries and recommendations. *European Journal of Information Systems*. 2014;23(3):241–55. DOI: 10.1057/ejis.2014.7
- [303] Okoli C. A Guide to Conducting a Standalone Systematic Literature Review. Communications of the Association for Information Systems. 2015;37:43. DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.1954824
- [304] Cooper H, Hedges L V. Research synthesis as a scientific process. In: *The Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis*. Russell Sage Foundation; 2009. p. 3–17.
- [305] Toulmin SE. Cosmopolis: The hidden agenda of modernity. University of Chicago press; 1990.
- [306] Pratt MG. Fitting Oval Pegs Into Round Holes: Tensions in Evaluating and Publishing Qualitative Research in Top-Tier North American Journals. Organizational Research Methods. 2007;11(3):481–509. DOI: 10.1177/1094428107303349
- [307] Meredith J. 20th Anniversary of JOM: an editorial retrospective and prospective. *Journal of Operations Management*. 2002;20(1):1–18. DOI: 10.1016/S0272-6963(01)00082-1

- [308] Eisenhardt KM. Building Theories from Case Study Research. *The Academy* of Management Review. 1989;14(4):532–50. DOI: 10.2307/258557
- [309] Pettigrew AM. Longitudinal Field Research on Change: Theory and Practice. *Organization Science*. 1990;1(3):267–92.
- [310] Creswell JW. Chapter 18 Mixed-Method Research: Introduction and Application. In: Cizek GJ, editor. *Handbook of Educational Policy*. Toledo, Ohio: Academic Press; 1999. p. 455–72. DOI: 10.1016/B978-012174698-8/50045-X
- [311] Langley A. Strategies for Theorizing from Process Data. *The Academy of Management Review*. 1999;24(4):691–710. DOI: 10.2307/259349
- [312] Martin JA, Eisenhardt KM. Rewiring: Cross-Business-Unit Collaborations in Multibusiness Organizations. *The Academy of Management Journal*. 2010;53(2):265–301. DOI: 10.5465/AMJ.2010.49388795
- [313] Barratt M, Choi TY, Li M. Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications. *Journal of Operations Management*. 2011;29(4):329–42. DOI: 10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- [314] Niiniluoto I. Defending Abduction. *Philosophy of Science*. 1999;66:S436–51. DOI: 10.1086/392744
- [315] Merton RK. . New York. *Social Theory and Social Structure, Revised and enlarged edition*. The Free Press, Simon and Schuster; 1957.
- [316] Box GEP. Science and Statistics. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1976;71(356):791–9. DOI: 10.1080/01621459.1976.10480949
- [317] Box GEP. Robustness in the Strategy of Scientific Model Building. In: Launer RL, Wilkinson GN, editors. *Robustness in Statistics*. New York: Academic Press; 1979. p. 201–36. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-438150-6.50018-2
- [318] von Neumann J. The mathematician. In: Haywood RB, editor. *Works of the Mind*. University of Chicago Press; 1947. p. 180–96.
- [319] Rasch GW. *Probabilistic Models for Some Intelligence and Attainment Tests*. København: Danmarks Pædagogiske Institut; 1960.
- [320] Mitroff II, Betz F, Pondy LR, Sagasti F. On Managing Science in the Systems Age: Two Schemas for the Study of Science as a Whole Systems

Phenomenon. Interfaces. 1974;4(3):46-58.

- [321] McCullagh P, Nelder JA. *Generalized Linear Models*. London: Chapman & Hall; 1989.
- [322] Box GEP, Luceño A, Paniagua-Quiñones MDC. Statistical Control By Monitoring and Adjustment. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons; 2009. 61 p. DOI: 10.1002/9781118164532
- [323] Ericsson A, Erixon G. Controlling Design Variants: Modular Product Platforms. Dearborn, Michigan: Society of Manufacturing Engineers; 1999.
- [324] Ferdows K. POM Forum: Transfer of Changing Production Know-How. Production and Operations Management. 2006;15(1):1–9. DOI: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2006.tb00031.x
- [325] Venable J, Pries-Heje J, Baskerville R. FEDS: a Framework for Evaluation in Design Science Research. *European Journal of Information Systems*. 2016;25(1):77–89. DOI: 10.1057/ejis.2014.36
- [326] March ST, Smith GF. Design and natural science research on information technology. *Decision Support Systems*. 1995;15(4):251–66. DOI: 10.1016/0167-9236(94)00041-2
- [327] Gregor S, Hevner A. Positioning and Presenting Design Science Research for Maximum Impact. MIS Quarterly. 2013;37(2):337–56. DOI: 10.25300/MISQ/2013/37.2.01
- [328] Jones D, Gregor S. The Anatomy of a Design Theory. Journal of the Association of Information Systems. 2007;8(5):312–35. DOI: 10.17705/1jais.00129
- [329] Stufflebeam DL. The CIPP Model for Evaluation. In: Stufflebeam DL, Madaus GF, Kellaghan T, editors. Evaluation Models: Viewpoints on Educational and Human Services Evaluation. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2000. p. 279–317. DOI: 10.1007/0-306-47559-6 16
- [330] Stefanou CJ. A framework for the ex-ante evaluation of ERP software. European Journal of Information Systems. 2001;10(4):204–15. DOI: 10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000407
- [331] Wiliam D, Black P. Meanings and Consequences: a basis for distinguishing formative and summative functions of assessment? *British Educational Research Journal*. 1996;22(5):537–48. DOI: 10.1080/0141192960220502

- [332] Venable J. A framework for design science research activities. In: Khosrow-Pour M, editor. *Proceedings of the 2006 Information Resource Management Association Conference*. Washington DC: Idea Group; 2006. p. 184–7.
- [333] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. *Reconfigurable wind turbine blade mould*. Patent application PCT/DK2023/050238, 2022.
- [334] Vestas Wind Systems A/S. *Method of making a reconfigurable wind turbine blade mould*. Patent application PCT/DK2023/050239, 2022.
- [335] Journal Rankings on Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering. Scimago Journal & Country Rank: 01/04-2023. 2023;
- [336] Uhlmann E, Lang KD, Prasol L, Thom S, Peukert B, Benecke S, et al. Sustainable Solutions for Machine Tools. In: Sustainable Manufacturing: Challenges, Solutions and Implementation Perspectives. Springer, Cham; 2017. p. 47–69. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-48514-0_4
- [337] Skärin F, Rösiö C, Andersen A-L. Sustainability and Circularity in Reconfigurable Manufacturing – Literature Review and Future Research Directions. *International Journal of Manufacturing Research*. x(Y):000–000. DOI: 10.1504/IJMR.2024.10058562
- [338] Battaïa O, Benyoucef L, Delorme X, Dolgui A, Thevenin S. Sustainable and Energy Efficient Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems. In: Benyoucef L, editor. *Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: From Design to Implementation*. 2020. p. 179–91. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-28782-5_9
APPENDED PAPERS

- A. Kjeldgaard, S., Napoleone, A., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2021). Changeable Manufacturing: A Comparative Study of Requirements and Potentials in Two Industrial Cases. In *Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems* (pp. 452-461). IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, 631. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-85902-2_48</u>
- B. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, R., Napoleone, A., Brunoe, T. D., & Andersen, A-L. (2023). Facilitating Manufacturing System Development: Mapping Changeability Capabilities in Two Industrial Cases. In *Advances in System-Integrated Intelligence* (pp. 626-635). Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, 546. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-16281-7_59</u>
- C. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. Evaluation of reconfigurability potentials in a global production network. (Under review by the CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology, submitted November 2023).
- D. Kjeldgaard, S., Brunoe, T. D., Andersen, R., Sorensen, D. G. H., Andersen, A-L., & Nielsen, K. (2022). Brownfield Design of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Architectures: An Application of a Modified MFD to the Capital Goods Industry. *Procedia CIRP*, 107, 1293-1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2022.05.147</u>
- E. Kjeldgaard, S., Jorsal, A. L., Albrecht, V., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2021). Towards a model for evaluating the investment of reconfigurable and platform-based manufacturing concepts considering footprint adaptability. *Procedia CIRP*, 104, 553-558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2021.11.093</u>
- F. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., Brunoe, T. D., & Nielsen, K. (2022). Methods and Models to Evaluate the Investment of Reconfigurable Manufacturing Systems: Literature Review and Research Directions. In *Towards Sustainable Customization: Bridging Smart Products and Manufacturing Systems* (138-146). Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-90700-6_15</u>
- G. Kjeldgaard, S., Andersen, A-L., & Brunoe, T. D. (2023). Enabling adaptability and resilience of a global production network: A model to evaluate capital and operational expenses of reconfigurable production systems. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 66, 142-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2022.12.003

ISSN (online): 2446-1636 ISBN (online): 978-87-7573-592-1

AALBORG UNIVERSITY PRESS